
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JUNE 21, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Chaplain Joseph Williams, CCSO 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. New Officer Swearing-In - Chief Guzman 

Sean Hickman 

Josef Van Hof 

PRESENTATIONS 

2. Introduction of the first inductees into the Green Cove Springs Police Department Wall of 

Honor.  Chief Guzman 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

3. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-14-2022, a Rezoning of parcel #017172-000-01 from 

R-2 to Planned Unit Development for .63 acres located on Roberts St, north of Green Cove 

Avenue. Michael Daniels 

The applicant has requested that the application be deferred to allow the applicant to 

resubmit the PUD for review by staff and recommended action taken by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission 

4. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-15-2022, a Rezoning of parcel #017172-000-00 from 

R-2 to Planned Unit Development for 2.11 acres located on Roberts St, north of Green Cove 

Avenue. Michael Daniels 

Page 1



June 21, 2022 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

The applicant has requested that the application be deferred to allow the applicant to 

resubmit the PUD for review by staff and recommended action taken by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

5. City Council approval of Mutual Aid Agreements between the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the Putnam County Sheriff’s Office.  Chief Guzman 

6. City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, Contract Modification #2, 

extending the agreement expiration date from April 30, 2022 to September 30, 2022, for Hazard 

Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP), Federally-Funded Subaward and Grant Agreement # H0297 

/ Project Number 4337-294-R, improvements to sewage Lift Station # 303. This project includes 

75% grant funding from HMGP.  Scott Schultz 

7. City Council approval of the FACC 50th Anniversary Proclamation.  Erin West 

8. City Council approval to modify the Cured in Place Pipe (CIPP) lining project for Houston 

Street, approved on November 16, 2021, to Advanced Plumbing Technology (APT), increasing 

the amount from $58,123.00 to $76,078.00 ($17,005.00).  Scott Schultz 

9. City Council approval to surplus the Information Technology items contained in Attachment 

“A”.  Scott Schultz 

10. City Council approval of Minutes from 5/17/2022 Regular Session.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

11. City Council designation of Voting Delegate for the Annual Florida League of Cities Conference 

in Hollywood, Florida on August 11-13, 2022.  Erin West / Kim Thomas 

12. City Council approval of Resolution No. R-05-2022 and R-06-2022 and submission for 

consideration by the Resolutions Committee at the FLC Annual Conference in August.  Erin 

West / Kim Thomas 

13. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

14. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

Page 2



June 21, 2022 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



 
 
June 13, 2022 
 
Michael Daniels, AICP 
Planning and Zoning Director 
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
Re:  Ordinance O-14-2022 and Ordinance O-15-2022 
 Roberts Street – North PUD and Roberts Street – South PUD 
 
 
Dear Mike: 
 
Please defer Council action on Ordinance O-14-2022 and Ordinance O-15-2022 to allow 
revisions to the PUD to be resubmitted and reviewed by City Staff and taken to the Planning 
and Zoning Commission for action. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 904-666-7038 or via email at 
jfleet@fleetarchitectsplaners.net. 
 
Sincerely, 
        
Janis K. Fleet, AICP   . 
President 

Page 4

Item #3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council  MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Request for rezoning of parcel 017172-000-01 consisting of .63 acres located  

on Roberts St, north of Green Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit 

Development. 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and 

Associates 
OWNER: Wiggins Investments of NF 

Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Roberts St, between Green Cove Avenue to the south and Melrose 

Avenue to the north 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017172-000-01 

FILE NUMBER: PUD-22-004 

CURRENT ZONING:  R-2 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: Single Family Residential (R-

2) 
SOUTH: Single Family Residential (R-2)  

EAST: Vacant (Industrial-City 

Owned) 
WEST: Single Family Residential (R-2) 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant Janis Fleet of Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc., (“Applicant”) submitted an 

application on behalf of Wiggins Investments of North Florida, Inc., (“Owner”) requesting to rezone the 

subject parcel from R-2 to Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The property is undeveloped and sparsely 

wooded. 

 

The intention of the proposed PUD application is to allow for 7 multi-family dwelling units to be 

constructed on .63 acres. The conceptual plan includes on-site retention, open space, and parking. The 

PUD written description does not require garages, and 17 parking spaces with no garages.  The parking 

spaces would be located adjacent to Roberts Street. 

Page 5

Item #3.



 

 

The proposed density of the PUD is approximately 11 units per acre. The surrounding properties are 

developed or developable only as single-family residences, meaning at full development, all properties 

have a density of 4 units per acre.  The one exception is four-unit residential unit at the corner of Green 

Cove Avenue and Roberts which sits on .52 acres which is a converted single-family home.  The property 

to the east of the subject property is owned by the City which was purchased through a grant with the 

Florida Communities Grant to enhance environmental protection and resource based recreational 

activities.  The city is restricted from developing the land for any other purpose.   

 

The Future Land Use – Neighborhood – permits up to 12 units per acre. Per Comprehensive Plan Policy 

1.1.2, the City’s zoning map is intended to further implement and refine the densities permitted within 

each property. The R-2 Zoning District limits development to single family detached dwelling as a 

permitted use.  Special Exceptions are allowed for 2 to 4 attached units based on lot size and width. 

 

To further ensure sustainability of the building pattern, Policy 1.3.2 calls for the following principles to 

be considered:  

(1) increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt transitions; 

(2) high density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses; and  

(3) spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a small parcel 

of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of 

such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

The application was denied on a 5-0 vote by the Planning and Zoning Commission on April 26, 2022 and 

the case was deferred by the applicant’s request on May 17, 2022.   

 

Page 6

Item #3.



 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by 

the City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

 

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following rezoning requests: 

Application # Description 

PUD-22-002 Roberts South PUD Rezoning Application  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Item #3.



 

 

 

Environmental Conditions Analysis 
Soils 

 Sapelo Fine Sand which is a poorly drained soil 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

This property is not located within a floodzone. 

 
 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

Page 8

Item #3.



 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  7 6.65 47 .5 4 .62 4 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 7 multifamily dwelling units would be a de-minimis impact 

on the roadway network.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        2,782 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,814,218 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 2,226 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -62,226 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to 

handle the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the 

Rookery Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project and as a 

result, an additional Wastewater facility shall be constructed to serve the Rookery and thereby providing 

additional wastewater capacity.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 148 lbs. / 27 tons 

Page 9

Item #3.



Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

7 0..0314 1 0.0095 1 0.0197 1 

Net 
Generation 

- - 1 - 1 - 1 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 

Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of 

Final Site Development Plan.  It is not anticipated that the estimated number of students generated by the 

proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards see attached.   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 

higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: 

 

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each other 

provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use. 

 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt 

transitions. 

 

c.  High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses.   

  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a 

Page 10

Item #3.



small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for 

the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

Policy 1.3.4. The City shall require all new development and redevelopment projects to 

integrate harmoniously into established neighborhoods through the use of buffering, open 

space, landscaping, and other site design tools  

 

The proposed application is not consistent with these Comprehensive Plan policies set forth above.  

From both a density and design standpoint the proposed application is not compatible with the low- 

density residential character of the surrounding area.     

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending denial of this request because the application is not in compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element Policy 1.3.2 and Policy 1.3.4.  

 

                                                     RECOMMENDED MOTION 

 

Motion to deny ordinance O-14-2022, to amend the Zoning from R-2 to PUD for .63 acres of property 

located on Roberts Road north of Green Cove Avenue, parcel #-017172-000-01) based on the factual 

support that the proposed application is not in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 

Policies 1.3.2 and 1.3.4.   

 

 

Page 11

Item #3.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 12

Item #3.



Page 13

Item #3.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.74 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes 2 irregular shaped parcels with frontage on Roberts Street, almost 
connected at the west end of the properties .   The parcels are vacant.  The parcel 
is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation of 
Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  Without a PUD 
on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit its development 
potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with conventional 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 32 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
and will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

Page 14

Item #3.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 10 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 15

Item #3.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 16

Item #3.



� �

�

PUD�Rezoning�Application� �
A.�PROJECT� �

1.� Project�Name:�_________________________________________________________________________�
�
2.� Address�of�Subject�Property:______________________________________________________________�
�
3.� Parcel�ID�Number(s):�____________________________________________________________________�

�
4.� Existing�Use�of�Property:�_________________________________________________________________�
�
5.� Future�Land�Use�Map�Designation�:�________________________________________________________�

�
6.� Existing�Zoning�Designation:�______________________________________________________________�
�
7.� Proposed�Zoning�Designation:�____________________________________________________________�

�

8.� Acreage:�_____________________________________________________________________________�
�
B.�APPLICANT� �

1.� Applicant’s�Status� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Owner�(title�holder)� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Agent�
�

2.� Name�of�Applicant(s)�or�Contact�Person(s):________________________________�Title:______________�
�

Company�(if�applicable):__________________________________________________________________�
�
Mailing�address:________________________________________________________________________�

�
City:�_________________________�State:___________________________�ZIP:____________________�
�

Telephone:�(� � � )_________________�FAX:�(� � � )_______________�e-mail:_________________________� �

�

3.� If�the�applicant�is�agent�for�the�property�owner*�

Name�of�Owner�(titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________�
�
Mailing�address:________________________________________________________________________�

�
City:�_________________________�State:___________________________�ZIP:____________________�
�

Telephone:�(� � � )_________________�FAX:�(� � � )_______________�e-mail:_________________________�
�

*�Must�provide�executed�Property�Owner�Affidavit�authorizing�the�agent�to�act�on�behalf�of�the�property�owner.� �

C.�ADDITIONAL�INFORMATION� �

1.�Is�there�any�additional�contact�for�sale�of,�or�options�to�purchase,�the�subject�property?� �

Yes� No�If�yes,�list�names�of�all�parties�involved:� �

If�yes,�is�the�contract/option�contingent�or�absolute?� �
Contingent� � Absolute� �

� �

�
� FOR�OFFICE�USE�ONLY

P�Z�File�#� � ____________� � �

Application�Fee:� � � � �

Filing�Date:� � � � Acceptance�Date:�� �

Review�Date:� � SRDT_______�P�&�Z�_______�CC�__________ � �

Roberts�Street��-�North�PUD

�Roberts�Street

�38-06-26-017172-000-01

Vacant

Neighborhood

R-2

PUD

0.63�acres

Janis�Fleet President

Fleet�&�Associates�Architects/Planners,�Inc.

11557�Hidden�Harbor�Way

Jacksonville Florida 32223

�����904�214-7999����������������� ������904�214-9040�������������� jfleet@fleetarchitectsplanners.net

Wiggins�Investments�of�North�Florida�Inc

91�Branscomb�Rd
Green�Cove�Springs

�����904�214-7999�����������������

Florida� 32043

������904�214-9040�������������� joe@wigginslaw.net�

Page 17

Item #3.



Page 18

Item #3.



STATEMENT OF PROPOSED CHANGE 

 

The Roberts Street – North PUD will allow the property to be developed for a multi-family 
development with 7 dwelling units.  The development will provide variety of housing types 
on the site.  The dwelling units will provide affordable rental housing for residents of Green 
Cove Springs.   

The site is in the recently adopted Neighborhood Future Land Use Map (FLUM) category. 
The Neighborhood FLUM category allows up to 12 dwelling units per acre. The proposed 
PUD is incompliance with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  The PUD will allow for 7 
multi-family dwelling units to be developed on 0.63 acres.   

The proposed PUD allows a creative approach to the development of land that would not 
be allowed in the conventional R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  It will accomplish a more 
desirable environment than would be possible through the strict application of the 
minimum requirements of the R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  The PUD provides for 7 
dwelling units with the required by an efficient use of land.  The dwelling units will each 
be two-bedroom units in one apartment building. It will enhance the appearance of the 
neighborhood by developing vacant property with a multi-family development, providing 
affordable housing needed for residents of Green Cove Springs.  The proposed 
development will be compatible with the residential character of this area of Green Cove 
Springs, which is has a variety of housing types, including multi-family west of the 
property.  The development will improve the property values in the Roberts Street/Melrose 
area of Green Cove Springs. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19

Item #3.



Page 20

Item #3.



AERIAL 

 

Subject 

Property 

Page 21

Item #3.



Page 22

Item #3.



Page 23

Item #3.



Page 24

Item #3.



Page 25

Item #3.



Page 26

Item #3.



Page 27

Item #3.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET  - North PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 0.63 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes an irregular shaped parcel with frontage on Roberts Street.   The 
parcel is vacant.  The parcel is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
designation of Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  
Without a PUD on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit 
its development potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with  
an apartment building for 7 two-bedroom units. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 7 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be a two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained under 
common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing option to residents of Green Cove Springs.  The development will increase 
the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

 

Page 28

Item #3.



 
III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 

 
A. Lot Requirements 

 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 15 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 

b. Sidewalks from Roberts Street to the apartment building.  
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 29

Item #3.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space to serve the residents of the 

development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 30

Item #3.



Page 31

Item #3.



Page 32

Item #3.



ORDINANCE NO. O-14-2022 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±0.63 ACRES OF PROPERTY 

LOCATED ON ROBERTS STREET, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID 

NUMBER 017172-000-01, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED 

BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM R-2, MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, 

TO PUD, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS 

ROBERTS STREET – NORTH PUD; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from R-2 Medium 

Density Residential to PUD, Planned Unit Development and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

to rezone properties within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from R-2 Medium Density Residential) to Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

 

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-017172-000-01, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

Page 33

Item #3.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 
 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17TH DAY OF MAY 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

Page 34

Item #3.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Item #3.



 
 
June 13, 2022 
 
Michael Daniels, AICP 
Planning and Zoning Director 
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
Re:  Ordinance O-14-2022 and Ordinance O-15-2022 
 Roberts Street – North PUD and Roberts Street – South PUD 
 
 
Dear Mike: 
 
Please defer Council action on Ordinance O-14-2022 and Ordinance O-15-2022 to allow 
revisions to the PUD to be resubmitted and reviewed by City Staff and taken to the Planning 
and Zoning Commission for action. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 904-666-7038 or via email at 
jfleet@fleetarchitectsplaners.net. 
 
Sincerely, 
        
Janis K. Fleet, AICP   . 
President 

Page 36

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Request for rezoning of parcel 017172-000-00 consisting of 2.11 acres located  

on Roberts St, north of Green Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit 

Development. 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and 

Associates 
OWNER: Wiggins Investments of NF 

Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Roberts St, between Green Cove Avenue to the south and 

Melrose Avenue to the north 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017172-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: PUD-22-002 

CURRENT ZONING:  R-2 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: Single Family Residential  

(R-2) 

SOUTH: Single Family Residential (R-2)  

EAST: Undeveloped (Industrial-City 

Owned) 
WEST: Single Family Residential (R-2) 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant Janis Fleet of Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc., (“Applicant”) submitted an 

application on behalf of Wiggins Investments of North Florida, Inc., (“Owner”) requesting to rezone the 

subject parcel from R-2 to Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The property has a row of crape myrtle 

trees in the front of the property and scattered hardwood trees on the property.   

 

The intention of the proposed PUD application is to allow for 25 multi-family dwelling units, consisting 

of one 8 unit apartment building, and three townhome buildings consisting of 17 units to be constructed 

Page 37

Item #4.



on 2.11 acres. The conceptual plan includes on-site retention, a water feature, open space, and a 

playground. The PUD written description does not require garages, and 17 parking spaces with no garages.   

 

The proposed density of the PUD is approximately 12 units per acre. The surrounding properties are 

developed or developable only as single-family residences, meaning at full development, all properties 

have a density of 4 units per acre.  The one exception is four-unit residential unit at the corner of Green 

Cove Avenue and Roberts which sits on .52 acres which is a converted single-family home.  The property 

to the east of the subject property is owned by the City which was purchased through a grant with the 

Florida Communities Grant to enhance environmental protection and resource based recreational 

activities.  The city is restricted from developing the land for any other purpose.   

 

The Future Land Use – Neighborhood – permits up to 12 units per acre. Per Comprehensive Plan Policy 

1.1.2, the City’s zoning map is intended to further implement and refine the densities permitted within 

each property. The R-2 Zoning District limits development to single family detached dwelling as a 

permitted use.  Special Exceptions are allowed for 2 to 4 attached units based on lot size and width. 

 

To further ensure sustainability of the building pattern, Policy 1.3.2 calls for the following principles to 

be considered:  

(1) increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt transitions; 

(2) high density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses; and  

(3) spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a small parcel 

of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of 

such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denial on a 3-2 vote on April 26, 2022.  

 

The applicant requested a deferral from the May 17, 2022 City Council meeting. 

 

Page 38

Item #4.



 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by 

the City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

 

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following rezoning requests: 

Application # Description 

PUD-22-004 Roberts North PUD Rezoning Application  

Page 39

Item #4.



 

 

Page 40

Item #4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Item #4.



Environmental Conditions Analysis 
Soils 

 Sapelo Fine Sand which is a poorly drained soil 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

This property is not located within a floodzone. 

 
 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  25 6.65 166 .5 13 .62 15 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 25 multifamily dwelling units would be a de-minimis impact 

on the roadway network.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        9,938 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,177,063 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 

Page 42

Item #4.



Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 7,950 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -67,950 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 25 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to 

handle the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the 

Rookery Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project and as a 

result, an additional Wastewater facility shall be constructed to serve the Rookery and thereby providing 

additional wastewater capacity.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 530 lbs. / 97 tons 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (25 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

25 0.0314 1 0.0095 1 0.0197 1 

Net 
Generation 

- - 1 - 1 - 1 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 

Page 43

Item #4.



Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of 

Final Site Development Plan.  It is not anticipated that the estimated number of students generated by the 

proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards see attached.   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 

higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: 

 

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each other 

provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use. 

 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt 

transitions. 

 

c.  High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses.   

  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a 

small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for 

the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

Policy 1.3.4. The City shall require all new development and redevelopment projects to 

integrate harmoniously into established neighborhoods through the use of buffering, open 

space, landscaping, and other site design tools  

 

The proposed application is not consistent with these Comprehensive Plan policies set forth above.  

From both a density and design standpoint the proposed application is not compatible with the low-

density residential character of the surrounding area.     

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending denial of this request because the application is not in compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element Policy 1.3.2 and Policy 1.3.4.  

 

                                                     RECOMMENDED MOTION 

 

Motion to deny ordinance O-15-2022, to amend the Zoning from R-2 to PUD for 2.11 acres of property 

located on Roberts Road north of Green Cove Avenue, parcel #017172-000-00) based on the factual 

Page 44

Item #4.



support that the proposed application is not in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 

Policies 1.3.2 and 1.3.4.   

 

 

Page 45

Item #4.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 46

Item #4.



Page 47

Item #4.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.74 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes 2 irregular shaped parcels with frontage on Roberts Street, almost 
connected at the west end of the properties .   The parcels are vacant.  The parcel 
is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation of 
Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  Without a PUD 
on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit its development 
potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with conventional 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 32 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
and will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

Page 48

Item #4.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 10 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 49

Item #4.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 50

Item #4.



  

 

PUD Rezoning Application  
A. PROJECT  

1. Project Name: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Address of Subject Property:______________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Parcel ID Number(s): ____________________________________________________________________ 

�
4. Existing Use of Property: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
5. Future Land Use Map Designation : ________________________________________________________ 

�
6. Existing Zoning Designation: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Proposed Zoning Designation: ____________________________________________________________ 

�

8. Acreage: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
B. APPLICANT  

1. Applicant’s Status                Owner (title holder)                Agent 
 

2. Name of Applicant(s) or Contact Person(s):________________________________ Title:______________ 
 

Company (if applicable):__________________________________________________________________ 
�
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________  

 

3. If the applicant is agent for the property owner* 

Name of Owner (titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________ 
�
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________ 
 

* Must provide executed Property Owner Affidavit authorizing the agent to act on behalf of the property owner.  

C. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

1. Is there any additional contact for sale of, or options to purchase, the subject property?  

Yes No If yes, list names of all parties involved:  

If yes, is the contract/option contingent or absolute?  
Contingent  Absolute  

�  

 
 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

P Z File #  ____________   

Application Fee:     

Filing Date:    Acceptance Date:   

Review Date:  SRDT_______ P & Z _______ CC __________   

Roberts Street - South PUD

 Roberts Street

 38-06-26-017172-000-00 

Vacant

Neighborhood

R-2

PUD

2.11 acres

Janis Fleet President

Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc.

11557 Hidden Harbor Way

Jacksonville Florida 32223

     904 214-7999                       904 214-9040              jfleet@fleetarchitectsplanners.net

Wiggins Investments of North Florida Inc

91 Branscomb Rd
Green Cove Springs

     904 214-7999                 

Florida 32043

      904 214-9040              joe@wigginslaw.net 

Page 51

Item #4.



Page 52

Item #4.



STATEMENT OF PROPOSED CHANGE 

 

The Roberts Street – South PUD will allow the property to be developed for a multi-family 

development with 25 dwelling units.  The development will provide variety of housing 

types on the site.  The dwelling units will provide affordable rental housing for residents 

of Green Cove Springs.   

The site is in the recently adopted Neighborhood Future Land Use Map (FLUM) category. 

The Neighborhood FLUM category allows up to 12 dwelling units per acre. The proposed 

PUD is incompliance with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  The PUD will allow for 25 

multi-family dwelling units to be developed on 2.11 acres.   

The proposed PUD allows a creative approach to the development of land that would not 

be allowed in the conventional R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  It will accomplish a more 

desirable environment than would be possible through the strict application of the 

minimum requirements of the R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  The PUD provides for 25 

dwelling units with the required by an efficient use of land.  The property will be developed 

with 17 townhouses with a 1 car garage and 8 one-bedroom units in an apartment 

building. It will enhance the appearance of the neighborhood by developing vacant 

property with a multi-family development, providing affordable housing options needed 

for residents of Green Cove Springs.  The proposed development will be compatible with 

the residential character of this area of Green Cove Springs, which is has a variety of 

housing types, including multi-family west of the property.  The development will improve 

the property values in the Roberts Street/Melrose area of Green Cove Springs. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

Item #4.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 54

Item #4.



AERIAL 

 

Subject 

Property 

Page 55

Item #4.



PLAT MAP 

Subject 

Property 

Page 56

Item #4.



Page 57

Item #4.



Page 58

Item #4.



Page 59

Item #4.



Page 60

Item #4.



Page 61

Item #4.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.11 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site is an irregular shaped parcel with frontage on Roberts Street.   The parcel is 
vacant.  The parcel is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
designation of Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  
Without a PUD on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit 
its development potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 25 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
The development will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

 

Page 62

Item #4.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 15 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -20 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 
b. No attached garages for the apartment for the apartment building. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 63

Item #4.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 64

Item #4.



Page 65

Item #4.



Page 66

Item #4.



ORDINANCE NO. O-15-2022 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA REZONING ±2.11 ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED ON 

ROBERTS STREET, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 017172-000-00, 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM R-2, 

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, TO PUD, PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS ROBERTS STREET – SOUTH PUD; 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from R-2 Medium 

Density Residential to PUD, Planned Unit Development and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

to rezone properties within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from R-2 Medium Density Residential) to Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

 

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-017172-000-00, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

Page 67

Item #4.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 
 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17TH DAY OF MAY 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

Page 68

Item #4.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Chief Guzman 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Mutual Aid Agreements between the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the Putnam County Sheriff’s Office.  Chief Guzman 
 

BACKGROUND 

. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

City Council approval of the Mutual Aid Agreements with the Putnam County Sherriff’s Department. 
 

Page 70

Item #5.



 VOLUNTARY COOPERATION AND OPERATIONAL ASSISTANCE 

MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

WITNESS ETH 

WHEREAS THE UNDERSIGNED LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES AS LISTED ARE SO LOCATED 
IN RELATION TO EACH OTHER THAT IT IS TO THE ADVANTAGE OF EACH TO RECEIVE AND 
EXTEND MUTUAL AID IN THE FORM OF LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES AND RESOURCES TO 
ADEQUATELY RESPOND TO: 

(1) CONTINUING, MULTI-JURISDICTIONAL CRIMINAL ACTIVITY, SO AS TO PROTECT
THE PUBLIC PEACE AND SAFETY, AND PRESERVE THE LIVES AND PROPERTY
OF THE CITIZENS; AND,

(2) INTENSIVE SITUATIONS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, NATURAL, OR
MANMADE DISASTERS OR EMERGENCIES AS DEFINED UNDER SECTION 252.34,
FLORIDA STATUTES; AND,

WHEREAS, THE GREEN COVE SPRINGS POLICE DEPARTMENT, AND THE PUTNAM 
COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE HAVE THE AUTHORITY UNDER SECTION 23.12, FLORIDA 
STATUTES, et. seq., THE FLORIDA MUTUAL AID ACT, TO ENTER INTO A COMBINED MUTUAL AID 
AGREEMENT FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICE WHICH: 

(1) PERMITS VOLUNTARY COOPERATION AND ASSISTANCE OF A ROUTINE LAW 
ENFORCEMENT NATURE ACROSS JURISDICTIONAL LINES;AND,

(2) PROVIDES FOR RENDERING OF ASSISTANCE IN A LAW ENFORCEMENT
EMERGENCY.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE UNDERSIGNED PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION I: PROVISIONS FOR VOLUNTARY COOPERATION 

EACH OF THE UNDERSIGNED LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES HEREBY APPROVE AND ENTER 
INTO THIS AGREEMENT WHEREBY EACH OF THE AGENCIES MAY REQUEST AND RENDER LAW 
ENFORCEMENT ASSISTANCE TO THE OTHER IN DEALING WITH ANY VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA 
STATUTES TO INCLUDE, BUT NOT NECESSARILY BE LIMITED TO, INVESTIGATING HOMICIDES, 
SEX OFFENSES, ROBBERIES , BURGLARIES, THEFTS, GAMBLING, MOTOR VEHICLE THEFTS, 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES VIOLATIONS , DUI VIOLATIONS AND WITH BACKUP SERVICES 
DURING PATROL ACTIVITIES , SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICERS ON OFFICIAL DUTY OUT OF 
THEIR JURISDICTION, SCHOOL SAFETY OFFICERS ENFORCING LAWS WITHIN 1000 FEET OF A 
SCHOOL, AND INTER-AGENCY TASK FORCES AND/OR JOINT INVESTIGATIONS. 

SECTION II: PROVISIONS FOR OPERATIONAL ASSISTANCE 

EACH OF THE AFORESAID LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES HEREBY APPROVE AND ENTER 
INTO THIS AGREEMENT WHEREBY EACH OF THE AGENCIES MAY REQUEST AND RENDER LAW 
ENFORCEMENT ASSISTANCE TO THE OTHER TO INCLUDE, BUT NOT NECESSARILY BE LIMITED 
TO, DEALING WITH CIVIL DISTURBANCES, LAW ENFORCEMENT EMERGENCIES, LARGE 
PROTEST DEMONSTRATIONS, PRE-PLANNED SPECIAL EVENTS, AIRCRAFT DISASTERS, FIRES, 
HURRICANES, TORNADOES OR OTHER WEATHER-RELATED CRISES, SPORTING EVENTS, 
CONCERTS, PARADES, ESCAPES FROM DETENTION FACILITIES, AND INCIDENTS REQUIRING 
UTILIZATION OF SPECIALIZED UNITS. 

Page 71

Item #5.



SECTION Ill: PROCEDURE FOR REQUESTING ASSISTANCE: 

IN THE EVENT THAT A PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT IS IN NEED OF ASSISTANCE AS SET FORTH 

ABOVE, AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE AGENCY REQUESTING ASSISTANCE SHALL 

NOTIFY THE AGENCY HEAD OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE FROM WHOM SUCH ASSISTANCE IS 

REQUESTED. THE AGENCY HEAD OR AUTHORIZED AGENCY REPRESENTATIVE WHOSE 

ASSISTANCE IS SOUGHT SHALL EVALUATE THE SITUATION AND THE AGENCY'S AVAILABLE 

RESOURCES, CONSULT WITH HIS/HER SUPERVISORS IF NECESSARY, AND WILL RESPOND IN A 

MANNER HE/SHE DEEMS APPROPRIATE. 

THE AGENCY HEAD IN WHOSE JURISDICTION ASSISTANCE IS BEING RENDERED MAY 

DETERMINE WHO IS AUTHORIZED TO LEND ASSISTANCE IN HIS/HER JURISDICTION, FOR HOW 

LONG SUCH ASSISTANCE IS AUTHORIZED AND FOR WHAT PURPOSE SUCH AUTHORITY IS 

GRANTED. THIS AUTHORITY MAY BE GRANTED EITHER VERBALLY OR IN WRITING AS THE 

PARTICULAR SITUATION DICTATES. 

THE AGENCY HEAD'S DECISION IN THESE MATTERS SHALL BE FINAL. 

SECTION IV: COMMAND AND SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITY 

THE PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT THAT ARE ASSIGNED BY THE ASSISTING AGENCY HEAD 

SHALL BE UNDER THE IMMEDIATE COMMAND OF A SUPERVISING OFFICER DESIGNATED BY 

THE ASSISTING AGENCY HEAD. SUCH SUPERVISING OFFICER SHALL BE UNDER THE DIRECT 

SUPERVISION AND COMMAND OF THE AGENCY HEAD OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE OF THE AGENCY 

REQUESTING ASSISTANCE. 

CONFLICTS: WHENEVER AN OFFICER, DEPUTY SHERIFF OR OTHER APPOINTEE IS 

RENDERING ASSISTANCE PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OFFICER, DEPUTY SHERIFF 

OR APPOINTEE SHALL ABIDE BY AND BE SUBJECT TO THE RULES AND REGULATIONS, 

PERSONNEL POLICIES, GENERAL ORDERS AND STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES OF 

HIS/HER OWN EMPLOYING AGENCY. IF ANY SUCH RULE, REGULATION, PERSONNEL POLICY, 

GENERAL ORDER OR STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE IS CONTRADICTED, CONTRAVENED 

OR OTHERWISE IN CONFLICT WITH A DIRECT ORDER OF A SUPERIOR OFFICER OF THE 

REQUESTING AGENCY, THEN SUCH RULE, REGULATION, PERSONNEL POLICY, GENERAL ORDER 

OR PROCEDURE SHALL CONTROL AND SHALL SUPERSEDE THE DIRECT ORDER. 

HANDLING COMPLAINTS: WHENEVER THERE IS CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT A COMPLAINT 

HAS ARISEN AS A RESULT OF A COOPERATIVE EFFORT AS IT MAY PERTAIN TO THIS 

AGREEMENT, THE AGENCY HEAD OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE OF THE REQUESTING AGENCY SHALL 

BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DOCUMENTATION OF SAID COMPLAINT TO ASCERTAIN AT A 

MINIMUM: 

1. THE IDENTITY OF THE COMPLAINANT.

2. AN ADDRESS WHERE THE COMPLAINING PARTY CAN BE CONTACTED.

3. THE SPECIFIC ALLEGATION.

4. THE IDENTITY OF THE EMPLOYEES ACCUSED WITHOUT REGARDS AS TO

AGENCY AFFILIATION.

IF IT IS DETERMINED THAT THE ACCUSED IS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE ASSISTING AGENCY, THE 

ABOVE INFORMATION, WITH ALL PERTINENT DOCUMENTATION GATHERED DURING THE 

RECEIPT AND PROCESSING OF THE COMPLAINT, SHALL BE FORWARDED WITHOUT DELAY TO 

THE AGENCY HEAD OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE OF THE ASSISTING AGENCY FOR ADMINISTRATIVE 

REVIEW. THE REQUESTING AGENCY MAY CONDUCT A REVIEW OF THE COMPLAINT TO 

DETERMINE IF ANY FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE COMPLAINT EXISTS AND/OR WHETHER ANY OF 

THE EMPLOYEES OF THE REQUESTING AGENCY VIOLATED ANY OF THEIR AGENCY'S POLICIES 

OR PROCEDURES. 

Page 72

Item #5.



Page 73

Item #5.



SECTION VII: FORFEITURE PROVISIONS 

a. IN THE EVENT AN AGENCY SEIZES ANY REAL PROPERTY, VESSEL, MOTOR

VEHICLE, AIRCRAFT, CURRENCY, OR OTHER PROPERTY PURSUANT TO THE FLORIDA 

CONTRABAND FORFEITURE ACT DURING THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE 

AGENCY REQUESTING ASSISTANCE IN THE CASE OF REQUESTED OPERATIONAL ASSISTANCE 

AND THE SEIZING AGENCY IN THE CASE OF VOLUNTARY COOPERATION SHALL BE 

RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING ANY FORFEITURE ACTION PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 932, 

FLORIDA STATUTES. THE AGENCY PURSUING THE FORFEITURE ACTION SHALL HAVE THE 

EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO CONTROL AND THE RESPONSIBILITY TO MAINTAIN THE PROPERTY IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH CHAPTER 932, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO INCLUDE, BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO, 

THE COMPLETE DISCRETION TO BRING THE ACTION OR DISMISS THE ACTION. 

b. ALL PROCEEDS FROM FORFEITED PROPERTY SEIZED AS A RESULT OF OR IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DIVIDED EQUALLY BETWEEN THE PARTIES 

ACTUALLY INVOLVED IN THE SPECIFIC ACTION THAT LED TO THE SEIZURE, LESS THE COSTS 

ASSOCIATED WITH THE FORFEITURE ACTION. 

SECTION VIII: EFFECTIVE DATE 

THIS AGREEMENT SHALL TAKE EFFECT UNDER EXECUTION AND APPROVAL BY THE 

HEREINAFTER NAMED OFFICIALS AND SHALL CONTINUE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT UNTIL 

TERMINATION BY EITHER PARTY. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES MAY THIS AGREEMENT BE 

RENEWED, AMENDED, OR EXTENDED EXCEPT IN WRITING. 

SECTION IX: CANCELLATION 

ANY PARTY MAY CANCEL ITS PARTICIPATION IN THIS AGREEMENT UPON DELIVERY OF 

WRITTEN NOTICE, WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS, TO THE OTHER PARTY. CANCELLATION WILL BE

AT THE DIRECTION OF ANY SUBSCRIBING PARTY. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO CAUSE THE PRESENTS TO BE SIGNED ON THE 

DATE SPECIFIED. 

Page 74

Item #5.



E.J. Guzman, Chief of Police

City of Green Cove Springs Police Department  

Date 

H.D. "Gator" DeLoach, Sheriff 

Putnam County Sheriff's Office, FL

Date 

Steve Kennedy, City Manager
City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Date 

Page 75

Item #5.



Page 76

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, Contract 

Modification #2, extending the agreement expiration date from April 30, 2022 to 

September 30, 2022, for Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP), Federally-Funded 

Subaward and Grant Agreement # H0297 / Project Number 4337-294-R, improvements to 

sewage Lift Station # 303. This project includes 75% grant funding from HMGP.  Scott 

Schultz 
 

BACKGROUND 

On 8/21/2018 Council ratified the submittal by staff for an HMGP grant application for installation of a 

generator and other improvements at Lift Station #3. The total estimated cost of the project was 

$171,300.00.  The City has received a grant amount of $109,632, or 75% of the project cost.  This 

project must be complete by December 31, 2021. 

On 2/4/2020 Council approved of and authorized the mayor to execute the actual contract. 

On 11/17/2020 Council approved the purchase of the generator, for which the city had received a cash 

advance for 75% of the purchase price. 

Due to labor and supply chain issues the contract will be extended until September 30, 2022. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of, and authorize the mayor to execute, Contract Modification #2, extending the agreement 

expiration date from April 30, 2022 to September 30, 2022, for Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 

(HMGP), Federally-Funded Subaward and Grant Agreement # H0297 / Project Number 4337-294-R, 

improvements to sewage Lift Station # 303.    
 

Page 77

Item #6.



SUB-RECIPIENT AGREEMENT CHECKLIST 

DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT  
MITIGATION BUREAU 

 

REQUEST FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL 
SUB-RECIPIENT: City of Green Cove Springs  
PROJECT #: 4337-294-R  
PROJECT TITLE: City of Green Cove Springs, Lift Station No. 3, Generator 
CONTRACT #: H0376 
MODIFICATION #: 2 

 

SUB-RECIPIENT REPRESENTATIVE (POINT OF CONTACT) 

 Scott Schultz 
321 Walnut Street  
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 

Enclosed is your copy of the proposed contract/modification between City of Green Cove 
Springs and the Florida Division of Emergency Management (FDEM).  

 COMPLETE 

 This form is required to be included with all Reviews, Approvals, and Submittal 
 Signed electronic copy 
 Reviewed and Approved 
 Signed and Dated by Official Representative 
 Copy of the organization’s resolution or charter that specifically identifies the 

person or position that is authorized to sign, if not Chairman, Mayor, or Chief 
 Attachment I - Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) - 

completed, signed, and dated 
 

 N/A for Modifications or State Funded Agreements 
 Attachment K – Certification Regarding Lobbying - completed, signed, and dated 

 
 N/A for Modifications or State Funded Agreements 

 Electronic Submittal to the Grant Specialist Jenna Hayth on       
 
If you have any questions regarding this contract, or who is authorized to sign it, please contact 
your Project Manager at (850) 792-5269 or email me at Maria.Kimball@em.myflorida.com. 
 

Page 78

Item #6.



 

 

Contract Number: H0376 

Project Number: 4337-294-R 
 

MODIFICATION TO SUBGRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
________________________________ 

 

This Modification Number Two made and entered into by and between the State of 
Florida, Division of Emergency Management ("the Division”), and City of Green Cove Springs 
("the Sub-Recipient") to modify Contract Number H0376, dated, June 11, 2020 ("the 
Agreement"). 

 
WHEREAS, the Division and the Sub-Recipient have entered into the Agreement, 

pursuant to which the Division has provided a subgrant to the Sub-Recipient under the Hazard 
Mitigation Grant Program of $116,940.80, in Federal Funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Division and the Sub-Recipient desire to modify the Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Agreement expired on April 30, 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Division and the Sub-Recipient desire to reinstate and extend the terms 

of the Agreement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises of the parties contained 

herein, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. The Agreement is hereby reinstated and extended as though it had never expired. 
 

2. Paragraph 8 of the Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(8) PERIOD OF AGREEMENT  

This Agreement shall begin June 11, 2020, and shall end September 30, 2022, 
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph (17) of this 
Agreement. 

 
3. The Budget and Scope of Work, Attachment A to the Agreement, are hereby modified as 

set forth in 2nd Revision Attachment A to this Modification, a copy of which is attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
 

4. All provisions of the Agreement being modified and any attachments in conflict with this 
Modification shall be and are hereby changed to conform with this Modification, effective 
on the date of execution of this Modification by both parties.  
 

5. All provisions not in conflict with this Modification remain in full force and effect, and are 
to be performed at the level specified in the Agreement. 
 

Page 79

Item #6.



 

 

6. Quarterly Reports are due to the Division no later than 15 days after the end of each 
quarter of the program year and shall be sent each quarter until submission of the 
administrative close-out report.  The ending dates for each quarter of the program year 
are March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Modification as of the 
dates set out below. 

 
 
SUB-RECIPIENT: CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 
 

By:        
 

Name and Title:       
 

Date:        
 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA  
DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT  
 

By:        
 

Name and Title:   Kevin Guthrie, Director   
 

Date:        

Page 80

Item #6.



 

 

Attachment A 

(2nd Revision) 

Budget and Scope of Work 

 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this Scope of Work is to provide protection to a wastewater lift station in Green 
Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida, funded through the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
(HMGP) DR-4337-294-R, as approved by the Florida Division of Emergency Management 
(Division) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  The project is for the 
purchase and installation of an emergency system to reduce and/or mitigate the damage that 
might otherwise occur from severe weather or other hazards. 

The Sub-Recipient, City of Green Cove Springs, agrees to administer and complete the project 
per scope of work as submitted by the Sub-Recipient and subsequently approved by the Division 
and FEMA.  The Sub-Recipient shall complete the work in accordance with all applicable Federal, 
State and Local Laws, Regulations, and Codes.  

PROJECT OVERVIEW: 

As a Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) project, the Sub-Recipient shall provide 
protection to wastewater Lift Station No. 3, located in Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043.  
Coordinates: (29.996994, -81.677593).   

The HMGP project shall provide protection to the lift station by installing a 100 kW emergency 
generator package to provide backup power.  This generator shall replace the 80 kW generator 
currently supporting the lift station.  The package shall include the generator, fuel tank, 
switchgear, and telemetry to allow remote monitoring.  The electric panel, SCADA, and the 
pumps in the lift station shall be upgraded as well.  In addition, the lift station wet well shall be 
elevated.  The wastewater lift station is considered critical.  The generator shall be installed with 
all necessary accessories for its operation.   

The generator(s) shall be protected against a 500-year flood event by implementing specific 
activities or by locating the generator(s) outside the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) and shall 
be protected against wind with a rated enclosure based on its location requirements.  Activities 
shall be completed in strict compliance with Federal, State and Local Rules and Regulations. 

TASKS & DELIVERABLES: 

A) Tasks: 

1) The Sub-Recipient shall procure the services of a qualified and licensed Florida contractor 
and execute a contract with the selected bidder to complete the scope of work as approved 
by the Division and FEMA.  The Sub-Recipient shall select the qualified, licensed Florida 
contractor in accordance with the Sub-Recipient’s procurement policy as well as all Federal 
and State Laws and Regulations.  All procurement activities shall contain sufficient source 
documentation and be in accordance with all applicable regulations.   

The Sub-Recipient shall be responsible for furnishing or contracting all labor, materials, 
equipment, tools, transportation and supervision and for performing all work per sealed 
engineering designs and construction plans presented to the Division by the Sub-Recipient 
and subsequently approved by the Division and FEMA.   

The Sub-Recipient and contractor shall be responsible for maintaining a safe and secure 

Page 81

Item #6.



 

 

worksite for the duration of the work.  The contractor shall maintain all work staging areas in 
a neat and presentable condition.   

The Sub-Recipient shall ensure that no contractors or subcontractors are debarred or 
suspended from participating in federally funded projects.   

The selected contractor shall have a current and valid occupational license/business tax 
receipt issued for the type of services being performed.   

The Sub-Recipient shall provide documentation demonstrating the results of the procurement 
process.  This shall include a rationale for the method of procurement and selection of 
contract type, contractor selection and/or rejection and bid tabulation and listing, and the basis 
of contract price.   

The Sub-Recipient shall provide an executed “Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, Voluntary 
Exclusion Form” for each contractor and/or subcontractor performing services under this 
agreement.   

Executed contracts with contractors and/or subcontractors shall be provided to the Division 
by the Sub-Recipient within 10 days of execution.   

The Sub-Recipient shall provide copies of professional licenses for contractors selected to 
perform services.  The Sub-Recipient shall provide a copy of a current and valid occupational 
license or business tax receipt issued for the type of services to be performed by the selected 
contractor. 

2) The Sub-Recipient shall monitor and manage the procurement and installation of all products 
in accordance with the HMGP application and associated documentation as presented to the 
Division by the Sub-Recipient and subsequently approved by the Division and FEMA.  The 
Sub-Recipient shall ensure that all applicable State, Local and Federal Laws and Regulations 
are followed and documented, as appropriate.   

The Sub-Recipient shall fully perform the approved project, as described in the application, 
in accordance with the approved scope of work indicated herein, the estimate of costs 
indicated herein, the allocation of funds indicated herein, and all applicable terms and 
conditions.  The Sub-Recipient shall not deviate from the approved project terms and 
conditions.   

Upon completion of the work, the Sub-Recipient shall schedule and participate in a final 
inspection of the completed project by the local municipal or county building department 
(official), or other approving official, as applicable.  The official shall inspect and certify that 
all installation was in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications.  Any deficiencies 
found during this final inspection shall be corrected by the Sub-Recipient prior to Sub-
Recipient’s submittal of the final inspection request to the Division.   

Upon completion of Task 2, the Sub-Recipient shall submit the following documents with 
sufficient supporting documentation and provide a summary of all contract scope of work and 
scope of work changes, if any.  Additional documentation shall include: 

a) Copy of permit(s), notice of commencement. 

b) Local Building Official Inspection Report and Final Approval. 

c) A copy of electrical designs, specifications and/or drawings elaborated to complete the 
scope.  

d) Signed and Sealed copy of the As-built plans, as applicable. 

e) Certified Letter of Completion, as applicable:  

Page 82

Item #6.



 

 

1. Affirming that the project has been completed in conformance with the approved 
project drawings, specifications, and scope.  

2. Certifying Compliance with all applicable codes. 

f) All Product Specifications / Data Sheet(s) (technical standards) satisfying protection 
requirements on all products utilized. 

g) Verification letter or documentation showing the generator is protected to the 500-year 
(0.2% annual chance) flood elevation.  

h) Proof of compliance with Project Conditions and Requirements contained herein. 

3) During the course of this agreement, the Sub-Recipient shall submit requests for 
reimbursement.  Adequate and complete source documentation shall be submitted to support 
all costs (federal share and local share) related to the project.  In some cases, all project 
activities may not be fully complete prior to requesting reimbursement of costs incurred in 
completion of this scope of work; however, a partial reimbursement may be requested.   

The Sub-Recipient shall submit an Affidavit signed by the Sub-Recipient’s project personnel 
with each reimbursement request attesting to the completion of the work, that disbursements 
or payments were made in accordance with all agreement and regulatory conditions, and that 
reimbursement is due and has not been previously requested.   

The Sub-Recipient shall maintain accurate time records.  The Sub-Recipient shall ensure 
invoices are accurate and any contracted services were rendered within the terms and 
timelines of this agreement.  All supporting documentation shall agree with the requested 
billing period.  All costs submitted for reimbursement shall contain adequate source 
documentation which may include but not be limited to cancelled checks, bank statements, 
Electronic Funds Transfer, paid bills and invoices, payrolls, time and attendance records, 
contract and subcontract award documents.   

Construction Expense:  The Sub-Recipient shall pre-audit bills, invoices, and/or charges 
submitted by the contractors and subcontractors and pay the contractors and subcontractors 
for approved bills, invoices, and/or charges.  Sub-Recipient shall ensure that all 
contractor/subcontractor bills, invoices, and/or charges are legitimate and clearly identify the 
activities being performed and associated costs.   

Sub-Recipient Management Costs (SRMC) expenditure must adhere to FEMA Policy #104-
11-1 HMGP Management Costs (Interim) signed November 14, 2018.  FEMA defines 
management costs as any: Indirect costs, Direct administrative costs, and other 
administrative expenses associated with a specific project.  Administrative costs are 
expenses incurred by a Sub-Recipient in managing and administering the federal award to 
ensure that federal, state requirements are met including: solicitation, development, review, 
and processing of sub-applications; delivery of technical assistance; quarterly progress and 
fiscal reporting; project monitoring; technical monitoring; compliance activities associated with 
federal procurement requirements; documentation of quality of work verification for quarterly 
reports and closeout; payment of claims; closeout review and liquidation; and records 
retention.   

Any activities that are directly related to a project are not eligible under management costs. 
For example, architectural, engineering, and design services are project costs and cannot be 
included under management costs.  Similarly, construction management activities that 
manage, coordinate, and supervise the construction process from project scoping to project 
completion are project costs.  These activities cannot be included under management costs. 

Due to Strategic Funds Management (SFM), SRMC Interim Policy requires management 
costs to be obligated in increments sufficient to cover Sub-Recipient needs, for no more than 

Page 83

Item #6.



 

 

one year, unless contractual agreements require additional funding.  FEMA has established 
a threshold where annual increments will be applied to larger awards allowing smaller awards 
to be fully obligated.  Obligations will be handled by the size of the total subaward.   

The Sub-Recipient shall pre-audit all SRMC source documentation – personnel, fringe 
benefits, travel, equipment, supplies, contractual, and indirect costs.  A brief narrative is 
required to identify what the funds will be used for.  Documentation shall be detailed and 
clearly describe each approved task performed, hours devoted to each task, and the hourly 
rate charged including enough information to calculate the hourly rates based on payroll 
records.  Employee benefits and tasks shall be clearly shown on the Personnel Activity Form, 
and all Personnel or Contractual SRMC shall be invoiced separate from all other project costs.  

Project Management Expenses (only applies to disasters prior to August 1, 2017, all others 
adhere to FEMA Policy #104-11-1 for SRMC):  The Sub-Recipient shall pre-audit source 
documentation such as payroll records, project time sheets, attendance logs, etc.  
Documentation shall be detailed information describing tasks performed, hours devoted to 
each task, and the hourly rate charged for each hour including enough information to calculate 
the hourly rates based on payroll records.  Employee benefits shall be clearly shown.   

The Division shall review all submitted requests for reimbursement for basic accuracy of 
information.  Further, the Division shall ensure that no unauthorized work was completed prior 
to the approved project start date by verifying vendor and contractor invoices.  The Division 
shall verify that reported costs were incurred in the performance of eligible work, that the 
approved work was completed, and that the mitigation measures are in compliance with the 
approved scope of work prior to processing any requests for reimbursement.   

Review and approval of any third-party in-kind services, if applicable, shall be conducted by 
the Division in coordination with the Sub-Recipient.  Quarterly Reports shall be submitted by 
the Sub-Recipient and received by the Division at the times provided in this agreement prior 
to the processing of any reimbursement. 

The Sub-Recipient shall submit to the Division requests for reimbursement of actual 
construction and managerial costs related to the project as identified in the project application, 
and plans.  The requests for reimbursement shall include: 

a) Contractor, subcontractor, and/or vendor invoices which clearly display dates of services 
performed, description of services performed, location of services performed, cost of 
services performed, name of service provider and any other pertinent information; 

b) Proof of payment from the Sub-Recipient to the contractor, subcontractor, and/or vendor 
for invoiced services; 

c) Clear identification of amount of costs being requested for reimbursement as well as costs 
being applied against the local match amount.   

The Sub-Recipient’s final request for reimbursement shall include the final construction 
project cost. Supporting documentation shall show that all contractors and subcontractors 
have been paid. 

 

B) Deliverables: 

Mitigation Activities consist of providing protection to wastewater Lift Station No. 3, located in 
Green Cove Springs, Florida, 32043, by installing a 100 kW generator, upgrading monitoring 
equipment and elevating the wet well.  

The generator(s) shall be protected against a 500-year flood event by implementing specific 
activities or by locating the generator(s) outside the SFHA and shall be protected against wind 

Page 84

Item #6.



 

 

with a rated enclosure based on its location requirements.  Activities shall be completed in 
strict compliance with Federal, State and Local Rules and Regulations. 

Provided the Sub-Recipient performs in accordance with the Scope of Work outlined in this 
Agreement, the Division shall reimburse the Sub-Recipient based on the percentage of 
overall project completion. 

PROJECT CONDITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS: 

C) Engineering:  

1) The Sub-Recipient shall submit to the Division an official letter stating that the project is 100% 
complete and ready for the Division’s Final Inspection of the project. 

2) The Sub-Recipient shall provide a copy of the Notice of Commencement, and any local official 
Inspection Report and/or Final Approval, as applicable.  

3) The Sub-Recipient shall submit a final copy of the completed project’s As-built drawings and 
all necessary supporting documentation and provide a summary of all contract scope of work 
changes, as applicable. 

4) The Sub-Recipient shall submit a final copy of any electrical designs, specifications and/or 
drawings elaborated to complete the job.  

5) The Sub-Recipient shall submit a certified letter of completion from Engineer of Record, as 
applicable.  The Sub-Recipient’s Engineer of Record shall provide a formal certificate or letter 
affirming that the project has been completed in conformance with the approved project 
drawings, specifications, scope, and applicable codes. 

6) The Sub-Recipient shall submit all Product Specifications / Data Sheet(s) (technical 
standards) satisfying protection requirements on all products utilized. 

7) All installations shall be done in strict compliance with the Florida Building Code or Miami 
Dade Specifications.  All materials shall be certified to exceed the wind and impact standards 
of the current local codes.  

8) The Sub-Recipient shall follow all applicable State, Local and Federal Laws, Regulations and 
requirements, and obtain (before starting project work) and comply with all required permits 
and approvals.  Failure to obtain all appropriate Federal, State, and Local permits and 
clearances may jeopardize federal funding. 

D) Environmental: 

1) The Sub-Recipient shall follow all applicable state, local and federal laws, regulations and 
requirements, and obtain (before starting project work) and comply with all required permits 
and approvals.  Failure to obtain all appropriate federal, state, and local environmental 
permits and clearances may jeopardize federal funding.  If project is delayed for a year or 
more after the date of the categorical exclusion (CATEX), then coordination with and project 
review by regulatory agencies must be redone.  

2) Any change, addition or supplement to the approved mitigation measure or scope of work 
that alters the project (including other work not funded by FEMA, but done substantially at the 
same time) shall require resubmission to the Division and FEMA for revaluation of compliance 
with the National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA) and Section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) prior to initiation of any work.  Non-compliance with these 
requirements may jeopardize FEMA’s ability to fund this project.  A change in the scope of 
work shall be approved by the Division and FEMA in advance regardless of the budget 
implications. 

Page 85

Item #6.



 

 

3) If any ground disturbance activities occur during construction, the Sub-Recipient shall monitor 
ground disturbance during construction, and if any potential archeological resources are 
discovered, shall immediately cease construction in that area and notify the Division and 
FEMA. 

4) The generator is supporting a critical action and must be protected to the 500-year (0.2% 
annual chance) flood elevation.  The Sub-Recipient must submit documentation to the State 
documenting which protective option they selected.  

5) Construction vehicles and equipment used for this project shall be maintained in good 
working order to minimize pollutant emissions.  

E) Programmatic: 

1) The Sub-Recipient must notify the Division as soon as significant developments become 
known, such as delays or adverse conditions that might raise costs or delay completion, or 
favorable conditions allowing lower costs or earlier completion. 

2) The Division and FEMA shall approve a change in the scope of work in advance, regardless 
of the budget implementations. 

3) The Sub-Recipient must “obtain prior written approval for any budget revision which would 
result in a need for additional funds” [44 CFR 13(c)], from the Division and FEMA.   

4) Any extension of the Period of Performance shall be submitted to FEMA 60 days prior to the 
expiration date.  Therefore, any request for a Period of Performance Extension shall be in 
writing and submitted, along with substantiation of new expiration date and a new schedule 
of work, to the Division a minimum of seventy (70) days prior to the expiration date, for 
Division processing to FEMA. 

5) The Sub-Recipient must avoid duplication of benefits between the HMGP and any other form 
of assistance, as required by Section 312 of the Stafford Act, and further clarification in 44 
CFR 206.191.   

6) A copy of the executed subcontract agreement must be forwarded to the Division within 10 
days of execution. 

7) Project approval is with the condition that the tasks, deliverables, and conditions be 
accomplished and submitted 30 days prior to the Period of Performance date, for review and 
approval by the Division, for submittal to FEMA for Closeout.  

8) Special Condition required on implementation of project:  Executive Order 11988-Floodplains: 
Generator is supporting a critical action and must be protected to the 500-year (0.2% annual 
chance) flood elevation.  Sub-Recipient must submit documentation to the Division 
documenting which protection option was selected.  

9) Sub-Recipient Management Costs (SRMC), implemented under the Disaster Relief and 
Recovery Act of 2018 (DRRA), amended Section 324 of the Stafford Act, and the Hazard 
Mitigation Grant Program Management Costs (Interim) FEMA Policy 104-11-1, provides 
100% federal funding under HMGP to Sub-Recipients to efficiently manage the grant and 
complete activities in a timely manner.   

o SRMC must conform to 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E, applicable program regulations, and 
Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) Guidance (2015), ensuring costs are reasonable, 
allowable, allocable and necessary to the overall project.   

o Funding is for approved indirect costs, direct administrative costs, and administrative 
expenses associated with this specific project and shall have adequate documentation.  

o SRMC cannot exceed 5% of the total project costs awarded.  

Page 86

Item #6.



 

 

o SRMC is 100% federally funded and will be reimbursed based on actual costs incurred 
for each individual Request for Reimbursement (RFR) submitted with the required 
documentation. 

o SRMC shall be reconciled against actual costs on a quarterly basis and annual basis. 

o If the Final Project Reconciliation results in a reduction of total project costs, any resulting 
SRMC overpayment shall be reimbursed back to the State for return to FEMA prior to 
FEMA Closeout. 

This is FEMA project number 4337-294-R.  It is funded under HMGP, FEMA-4337-DR-FL and 
must adhere to all program guidelines established for the HMGP in accordance with the PAS 
Operational Agreement for Disaster 4337. 

FEMA awarded this project on September 27, 2019; this Agreement was executed on June 11, 
2020; and the Period of Performance for this project shall end on September 30, 2022.    

F) FINANCIAL CONSEQUENCES: 

If the Sub-Recipient fails to comply with any term of the award, the Division shall take one or 
more of the following actions, as appropriate in the circumstances: 

1) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by the Sub-
Recipient; 

2) Disallow all or part of the cost of the activity or action not in compliance; 

3) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the current award for the Sub-Recipient’s program; 

4) Withhold further awards for the program; or 

5) Take other remedies that may be legally available.  

 

SCHEDULE OF WORK 

State and Local Contracting:   7 Months 

Design / Permitting:  6 Months 

Bidding and Contracting:  3 Months 

Construction / Installation:  12 Months 

State and Local Inspection:  5 Months 

Closeout:  3 Months 

Total Period of Performance:  36 Months 

 

Page 87

Item #6.



 

 

BUDGET 

Line Item Budget* 

 Project Cost Federal Cost Non-Federal Cost 

Materials: $139,200.00 $89,088.00 $50,112.00 

Labor: $32,100.00 $20,544.00 $11,556.00 

Fees: $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

    

Initial Agreement Amount: $171,300.00 $109,632.00 $61,668.00 

***Contingency Funds: $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Project Total: $171,300.00 $109,632.00 $61,668.00 

****SRMC     

SRMC: $7,308.80 $7,308.80  

SRMC-Pre-Award: $0.00 $0.00  

SRMC Total: $7,308.80 $7,308.80  

*Any line item amount in this Budget may be increased or decreased 10% or less, with the 
Division’s approval, without an amendment to this Agreement being required, so long as the 
overall amount of the funds obligated under this Agreement is not increased. 

*** This project has an estimated $0.00 in contingency funds.  Per FEMA Hazard Mitigation 
Assistance Guidance Part VI, D.3.4 – Contingency funds are not automatically available for use.  
Prior to their release, contingency funds must be re-budgeted to another direct cost category and 
identified.  Post-award changes to the budget require prior written approval from the Division 
(FDEM).  The written request should demonstrate what unforeseen condition related to the 
project arose that required the use of contingency funds. 

Project Management costs are included for this project in the amount of $0.00 

**** Sub-Recipient Management Costs (SRMC) are included for this project in the amount 
of $7,308.80 in Federal funding.  Per the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program Interim FEMA Policy 
104-11-1, SRMC provides HMGP funding to Sub-Recipients to efficiently manage the grant and 
complete activities in a timely manner.  SRMC must conform to 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart E, 
ensuring costs are reasonable, allowable, allocable and necessary to the overall project.   

SRMC cannot exceed 5% of the approved total project costs awarded and shall be reimbursed 
at 5% for each Request for Reimbursement (RFR) submitted with the required documentation.   

If the Final Project Reconciliation results in a reduction of total project costs, any resulting SRMC 
overpayment shall be reimbursed back to the State for return to FEMA prior to FEMA Closeout.  

 

Page 88

Item #6.



 

 

Funding Summary Totals 

Federal Share:  $109,632.00 (64.00%) 

Non-Federal Share:  $61,668.00 (36.00%) 

Total Project Cost:  $171,300.00 (100.00%) 

    

SRMC (100% Federal)  $7,308.80  
 

 

Page 89

Item #6.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, the Office of the Municipal Clerk, a time honored and vital part of local government; and is 
one of the oldest among public servants; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Office of the Municipal Clerk provides a professional and essential link between the 
citizens, the local governing bodies and intergovernmental agencies at the local, state, and federal levels 
along with other essential services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Florida Association of City Clerks (FACC) is the professional membership organization 
for Florida’s municipal clerks and others who work within the clerk’s office; and 
 
WHEREAS, FACC began in 1972 when its founder, the late Robert N. Clark, CMC, City Clerk of Sunrise, 
saw the need for an organization to bring together like-minded people to unite the voice of all municipal 
clerks, to share ideas and to assist one another in the work of municipal government; and 
 
WHEREAS, FACC celebrates its 50th anniversary in 2022, and a golden anniversary is a momentous 
occasion worthy of commendation and Florida’s cities, towns and villages will all join in observation of this 
celebratory event; and 
 
WHEREAS, Municipal Clerks continually strive to improve the administration of the affairs of the Office of 
the Municipal Clerk through participation in education programs, seminars, workshops and the annual 
meetings of their state, provincial, county and international professional organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, FACC is a primary source for the educational programs, seminars, workshops and webinars 
for educating Florida’s municipal clerks and those who serve in the clerk’s office, and municipal clerks 
look to FACC to provide the training needed to obtain their Certified Municipal Clerk (CMC) and Master 
Municipal Clerk (MCM) certifications. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. That the City of Green Cove Springs celebrates the 50th anniversary of the Florida 
Association of City Clerks. 

 
Section 2. That FACC is commended for 50 years of excellent service provided to the municipal 

clerks in the State of Florida. 
 

Section 3. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 
Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 

 
DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 21ST DAY OF JUNE, 2022. 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 
              
       Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 90

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 21, 2021 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval to modify the Cured in Place Pipe (CIPP) lining project for Houston 

Street, approved on November 16, 2021, to Advanced Plumbing Technology (APT), 

increasing the amount from $58,123.00 to $76,078.00 ($17,005.00). 
 

BACKGROUND 

Excerpt from the November 16, 2021 Staff Report: 

City staff has identified three (3) crucial areas in need of CIPP repair. The main “trunk” line to lift 

station #304 totaling 1014 Linear Feet (LF), 292 LF of 8” PVC sewer on Cypress Avenue, and 233 LF 

of 42” concrete storm water pipe. The City intends to “piggyback” off a contract between APT and the 

City of Milton, FL. City staff compared other contracts and determined the pricing in, the City of Milton 

contract to be the most cost effective. Utilizing a contract with predetermined pricing negates the need 

for the competitive bid process. 

 

After receiving the purchase order in November 2021 APT could not complete the project due to 

unavailable materials and labor retention issues.  By the time APT was able to schedule the project the 

price had increased significantly from $58,123.00 to $76,078.00.  Staff solicited quotes from two other 

contractors, J & H ($99,150.00) and Insituform (unable to quote).  As the repair has reached a point it 

can no longer be postponed, staff is seeking authorization to complete the project.  The other two 

projects cited above (Cypress Avenue sewer and stormwater) will not be completed as a part of this 

award. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$76,078.00 to the Wastewater Fund Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget 403-3035-5006317. 

$100,000.00 was budgeted for this project in FY 21 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the modification of the Cured in Place Pipe (CIPP) lining project for Houston Street approved 

on November 16, 2021 to Advanced Plumbing Technology (APT), increasing the amount from 

$58,123.00 to $76,078.00. 
 

Page 91

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Green Cove Springs, LS 304 SS using ST PETE 
piggyback Proposal

Proposal Date:
Expiration Date: 

May 12, 2022

90 Days from May 12, 2022

Prepared for Green Cove Springs, City of  
Greg Bauer    
GBauer@greencovesprings.com
9042977500

SERVICE UNIT PRICE UNIT QTY LINE TOTAL
Standard Mobilization $3,500.00 1 $3,500.00
Flagmen (Per Flagman)
Maintenance of Tra�c is not a line 
item on the ST Pete contract. 
Flagmen at an hourly rate is.

$50.00 160 $8,000.00

Normal Cleaning 15" and 18" 
diameter

$2.00 1014 $2,028.00

Specialty Cleaning 15" and 18" 
diameter

$5.00 1014 $5,070.00

TV Inspection
TV is included in the lining price per 
foot

$0.00 1014 $0.00

18" CIPP $55.00 1014 $55,770.00
Service Reconnection $900.00 8 $7,200.00
Bypass Pumping Operation 
15"-21" diameter
Daily Rate

$250.00 10 $2,500.00

Bypass Pumping Set Up 15"-21" $1.00 10 $10.00

Total $84,078.00

Sincerely,

Mark French
Business Development Manager
Advanced Plumbing Technology

Page 92

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Mobile: 352-801-3930
mark@chooseapt.com

Proposal Acceptance for Green Cove Springs, City of                                                                 Acceptance Date

General Terms & Conditions: All of APT's General Terms & Conditions are viewable on our website at sewer�x.com/municipal/terms-and-conditions.php

Page 93

Item #8.

https://sewerfix.com/municipal/terms-and-conditions.php
http://www.sewerfix.com/municipal


1.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Authorized Signature Authorized Signature

$99,150.00

DateDate

/      / /      /

Proposed Total

J&H Waterstop Utilities Inc.

Jason Laurenza
City of Green Cove Springs

Scott Jorgensen

PO Box 740925
Orange City, FL 32774

P: (386) 851-2411     F: (386) 851-2466

www.jhwui.com

052522SJ-1

Project Address: Lamonte St & St. John's Ave

321 Walnut Street

PROPOSAL
Project Name:

Proposal Date:

Jason Laurenza

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

St. John's Ave

City, State, Zip:

Wednesday, May 25, 2022

Proposal #

Contact:

Phone:

There is no handling of contaminated, hazardous, or unsuitable materials included in this proposal. If any is required, it will be at an additional cost.

TOTAL

City. State, Zip:

Address:

Prepared for:

Qualifications & Exclusions

UNIT PRICE

City of Green Cove Springs

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Cell:

Email: jlaurenza@greencovesprings.com

There are no bonds included in this proposal.  If any are required, they will be at an additional cost.

Scope of Work
CIPP 18" Sewer Lines

LF $85.00

There are no permits included in this proposal.  If any are required, they will be at an additional cost.

$89,250.00

All Quantities listed below are estimates and if Units are increased JHWUI will bill accordingly.

UOMQTYDESCRIPTION

There is no testing included in this proposal. If any is required, it will be at an additional cost.

CIPP 18" Clay Sewer Pipe from P.S. #4 to MH #4-7 1050

Reinstate Service Laterals

Mobilization

8

1

EA

EA

$300.00

$7,500.00

$2,400.00

$7,500.00

Page 1 of 1 5:49 PM, 5/25/2022
Page 94

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Special Session MEETING DATE: November 16, 2021 

FROM: Greg Bauer, Engineering Technician  

SUBJECT: City Council approval of three (3) Cured in Place Pipe (CIPP) lining projects to Advanced 

Plumbing Technology (APT) in an amount not to exceed $110,183.50. 
 

BACKGROUND 

City staff has identified three (3) crucial areas in need of CIPP repair. The main “trunk” line to lift 

station #304 totaling 1014 Linear Feet (LF), 292 LF of 8” PVC sewer on Cypress Avenue, and 233 LF 

of 42” concrete storm water pipe. The City intends to “piggyback” off a contract between APT and the 

City of Milton, FL. City staff compared other contracts and determined the pricing in, the City of Milton 

contract to be the most cost effective. Utilizing a contract with predetermined pricing negates the need 

for the competitive bid process. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

   $66,063.00 to the Wastewater Fund Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget  

    403-3035-5006317 

   $44,120.50 to the Stormwater Improvements- Capital Expenses Budget 

    406-3036-5006307 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve three (3) CIPP (Cured in Place Pipe) lining projects to APT (Advanced Plumbing 

Technology) in an amount not to exceed $110,183.50. 
 

Page 95

Item #8.



Page 96

Item #8.



Page 97

Item #8.



Page 98

Item #8.



Page 99

Item #8.



Page 100

Item #8.



Page 101

Item #8.



Page 102

Item #8.



Page 103

Item #8.



Page 104

Item #8.



Page 105

Item #8.



Page 106

Item #8.



Page 107

Item #8.



Page 108

Item #8.



Page 109

Item #8.



Page 110

Item #8.



Page 111

Item #8.



Page 112

Item #8.



Page 113

Item #8.



Page 114

Item #8.



Page 115

Item #8.



Page 116

Item #8.



Page 117

Item #8.



Page 118

Item #8.



Page 119

Item #8.



Page 120

Item #8.



Page 121

Item #8.



Page 122

Item #8.



Page 123

Item #8.



Page 124

Item #8.



Page 125

Item #8.



Page 126

Item #8.



Page 127

Item #8.



Page 128

Item #8.



Page 129

Item #8.



Green Cove Springs: 2021-2022 
Sanitary and Stormwater CIPP 
Lining 

Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 East Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352.534.1504

Nov 04, 2021

Prepared For:

Greg Bauer
Engineering Technician/Safety O�cer
Green Cove Springs, City of
GBauer@greencovesprings.com

Project Proposal

Original Proposal Date: Nov 04, 2021     |     Expiration Date: 90 Days from Nov 04, 2021     |     sewer�x.com

Page 130

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

About Us

Who We Are
At APT, we are your partners in the pursuit of 

conquering failing infrastructure, one pipe at a time. 

The team at APT loves helping communities, large 
and small, advance their goals of overcoming 

challenges related to pipeline infrastructure that 
every community faces. 

 
By using advanced technologies and most 
importantly, a team of individuals that are 

committed to excellence every day in the pursuit of 
serving each of our customers, we are certain that 

we can offer each client maximum return on 
investment for your local community.

Mission & Vision

To restore every community’s underground pipeline 
infrastructure with integrity and accountability using the 
most advanced trenchless technologies.
 
At APT, we are your partners in the pursuit of conquering 
failing infrastructure, one pipe at a time. We instill value 
and innovation, above and below ground, in our pursuit to 
�x your community’s pipeline infrastructure.

Our Value

Working With Integrity
Integrity and accountability are at the forefront of 
everything we do at APT.

Full Circle Solutions Provider
We offer a wide variety of comprehensive inspection and 
rehab services so you can use one trusted contractor.

Leadership, In Every Role
At APT, everyone is a leader, and we empower our �eld 
teams to make decisions on the �y to support your team 
in the best manner possible.

Experience   
With a team that has over 150+ years of combined 
industry experience and over 3 million+ feet of inspection 
& CIPP rehab experience, we provide top quality services.
  

Page 131

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Some of Our Services

Pipe Cleaning Inspection Services CIPP Rehabilitation

While pipeline cleaning is a 
relatively straightforward 

process, it still takes an expert 
team to do it right the �rst time.

Here at APT, we have the best 
personnel in the industry and a 
high level of accountability to 

ensure we meet your needs on 
every cleaning project.

Manhole Rehabilitation

We understand the importance 
of this often-overlooked sewer 
asset. Despite manholes often 
being referred to as the sewer 
system’s windows, they have 
been mainly overlooked for 

inspection and rehabilitation 
efforts up until recently.

 
APT offers a list of rehab 

solutions for every manhole 
scenario.

We offer comprehensive 
pipeline inspection and 

condition assessment for 
pipes from 2” – 203” in 

diameter. 

Understanding your pipeline 
infrastructure condition is 
critical to determine life-

cycle analysis and potential 
next steps for rehabilitation 

based on the overall 
condition.

Inspection Data

Data is important and so it 
is keeping it safe! APT uses 

a comprehensive data 
review cloud platform for 

inspection review and 
offers, as on option, 

unmatched 5-year post-
contract data archiving for 

your team.
 

All our data complies to 
NASSCO standards and can 
be integrated into a variety 

of programs.

Full trenchless pipe 
rehabilitation at a fraction of 

the cost of traditional dig-
and-replace methods. 

Whether you need services 
in small diameter laterals, 

sanitary sewer mainlines, or 
storm lines; we have your 

team fully covered.

GPS Surveying

GPS collection for any 
infrastructure asset with 
sub-foot level accuracy. 

By using advanced GPS 
collection devices, we can 

give your team highly 
accurate coordinate data in 

a variety of formats 
supporting your GIS efforts.

Page 132

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Some of Our Clients

Recent Client Testimonial
"Myself, and my staff were very impressed with the professionalism, knowledge, and 
capabilities APT has at their disposal. We are looking forward to working with APT in the 
future and would recommend APT to any municipality to utilize the services they provide."
Matt Surrency  |  Mayor of the City of Hawthorne

Page 133

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Green Cove Springs: 2021-2022 Sanitary and 
Stormwater CIPP Lining Proposal*

Proposal Date:
Expiration Date: 

Nov 04, 2021

90 Days from Nov 04, 2021

Prepared for Green Cove Springs, City of  
Greg Bauer    
GBauer@greencovesprings.com
9042977500

SERVICE UNIT PRICE QTY TEXT LINE TOTAL
LS 304 BASIN PROPOSAL- SANITARY SEWER** $0.00 0 $0.00
Mobilization $2,500.00 1 Per Issuance $2,500.00
Maintenance of Tra�c $200.00 10 DAY $2,000.00
TV Inspection $1.00 1014 LF $1,014.00
Mainline Cleaning (12"-21") $3.50 1014 LF $3,549.00
CIPP 18" x 9mm $45.00 1014 LF $45,630.00
Service Reinstatement*** $150.00 8 EACH $1,200.00
Mob/Demob Bypass (12"-24") $200.00 10 Per Setup $2,000.00
Sewer Bypass Pumping (12"-24") $5.00 100 HR $500.00
CYPRESS AVE- SANITARY SEWER
Mobilization $0.00 1 Per Issuance $0.00
Maintenance of Tra�c $200.00 1 DAY $200.00
TV Inspection $1.00 292 LF $292.00
Mainline Cleaning (<12") $1.50 292 LF $438.00
CIPP 8" x 6mm $20.00 292 LF $5,840.00
Service Reinstatement*** $150.00 6 EACH $900.00
CYPRESS AVE- STORM SEWER
Mobilization $0.00 1 Per Issuance $0.00
Maintenance of Tra�c $200.00 1 DAY $200.00
TV Inspection $1.00 233 LF $233.00
Mainline Cleaning (24"-48") $5.50 233 LF $1,281.50
CIPP 42" x 19.5mm $182.00 233 LF $42,406.00

Total $110,183.50

*Please note pipe diameters to be veri�ed during CCTV, if variations exist pricing will be adjusted based upon Milton

Page 134

Item #8.



Advanced Plumbing Technology
638 E Highway 50, Suite 4

Clermont, Florida 34711
352-534-1504
sewer�x.com

Advanced Plumbing Technology     |     638 East Highway 50, Suite 4     |     Clermont, Florida 34711     |     352-534-1504     |     sewer�x.com

Piggyback Pricing.
** For the 285' run on Clay St. I would recommend having the liner material on hand during the cleaning phase, if or
when we get the line cleaned we should install ASAP. If the line is collapsed and needs a point repair we can either
install in another local location, or the city will be billed the cost of the liner which would equal $12,825.00. Another
option would be to install the liner after the point repair but this would need an adjusted mob fee of $5,000 for this
one line segment.
***Quantity of service reinstatement to be determined.

Sincerely,

Mark French
Business Development Manager
Advanced Plumbing Technology
Mobile: 352-801-3930
mark@chooseapt.com

Proposal Acceptance for Green Cove Springs, City of                                                                 Acceptance Date

General Terms & Conditions: All of APT's General Terms & Conditions are viewable on our website at sewer�x.com/municipal/terms-and-conditions.php

Page 135

Item #8.

https://sewerfix.com/municipal/terms-and-conditions.php
http://www.sewerfix.com/municipal


 

Page 136

Item #8.



 

Page 137

Item #8.



 

Page 138

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 21, 2021 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director  

SUBJECT: City Council approval to surplus the Information Technology items contained in 

Attachment “A”. 
 

BACKGROUND 

The items listed in Attachment “A” have either malfunctioned or exceeded their useful life cycle. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds received from surplus will be returned to the General Fund 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the surplus of the Information Technology items contained in Attachment “A”. 
 

Page 139

Item #9.



Page 140

Item #9.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, MAY 17, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Pastor Bob Brown, Cornerstone Church 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Ed Gaw, Vice Mayor Matt Johnson, Council Member 

Connie Butler, Council Member Steven Kelley, Council Member Van Royal 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike 

Null, Assistant City Manager, Erin West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

1. Gerald Jefferson 1423 Floyd Circle, Orange Park, speaks to the Council about a new youth 

boxing program that he has started.  Where he trains youth in boxing to help with confidence, 

discipline, exercised and keep them off the streets.  The goal is for the students to go to college. 

Mayor Gaw questions how the Council can help.  Mr. Jefferson advises his main concern is 

location and he would like to use in program in GCS. 

2. Felicia Hampshire 508 Frankling St. GCS, speaks and thanks Council Member Royal for his 

outstanding job on the Council.  Ms. Hampshire thanks Mayor Gaw for his outstanding job as 

Mayor and on Food Truck Friday.  Ms. Hampshire also updates the Council on the Soul Food 

Festival lawsuit and advises the festival has been removed from the lawsuit.  Thank you for 

everyone for the support on the festival and updates on this years festival. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - National Safe Boating Week 

Commander Hines reads the proclamation and presents it to members of the U.S. Coast Guard 

Auxiliary. 

2. Recognition - Plaque Presentation to Van Royal for his years of support and service to the City 

of Green Cove Springs.  Mayor Gaw 

Mayor Gaw speaks and presents a plaque to Council Member Royal for his years on support and 

service to the City of Green Cove Springs. 

REORGANIZATION 

3. Swearing-In Ceremony for three (3) year terms of office for Constance Butler for Seat 3, Steven 

Kelley for Seat 5, and Thomas Smith for Seat 4.  Circuit Judge, Steven B. Whittington 

City Attorney Arnold introduces Circuit Judge, Steven B. Whittington. 

Judge Whittington proceeded to swear into office for a 3-year term, Constance Butler for Seat 3, 

Thomas Smith for Seat 4, and Steven Kelley for Seat 5. 

Page 141

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 2 of 7 

 

 

4. City Council election of a Mayor and Vice Mayor to serve from May 17, 2022 to May 16, 

2023.  Erin West 

Motion to elect Vice Mayor Johnson as Mayor. 

Motion made by Council Member Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

Motion to elect Council Member Butler as Vice Mayor. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

5. Rezoning of parcel 017172-000-00 consisting of 2.11 acres located on Roberts St, north of Green 

Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit Development.  Michael Daniels 

The applicant has requested that the application be deferred to the June 7, 2022 City 

Council meeting.  

Motion to move this item to the June 7, 2022 City Council meeting. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

6. Rezoning of parcel 017172-000-01 consisting of .63 acres located  on Roberts St, north of Green 

Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit Development.  Michael Daniels 

The applicant has requested that the application be deferred to the June 7, 2022 City 

Council meeting.  

Motion to move this item to the June 7, 2022 City Council meeting. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

7. Second and final reading of the Development Agreement for approximately 559.9 acres for the 

Rookery Residential Development located on CR 15 A south of Green Cove Avenue, parcel # 

016515-008-00.  Michael Daniels 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents the Development Agreement. 

Mayor Johnson opens the public hearing. 

Ellen Avery-Smith with Rogers Towers presents on this item. 

Raj Chindalur with Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. presents the traffic report. 

Following no further public comment, Mayor Johnson closes the public hearing. 

Council discussion follows concerning the agreement. 

Van Royal 3688 Lacosta Ct. GCS, speaks concerning the traffic pattern for the project. 

Page 142

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 3 of 7 

 

 

John Gislason 4220 Racetrack Rd. St. Johns, speaks to the Council concerning the next steps of 

the project and where the project is at now.  Engineering plans have been submitted for the 

horizontal improvements, CSX has approved the final plans for the bridge design, they are 

finalizing the ICE plans now, and once those are completed, they will be able to start the plans 

and get permits for the intersection design.  By the end of the year all permits should be complete 

and around September plans will be submitted for homes.  Once construction starts it will be 

around 18 months for rooftops. 

Mr. Chindalur speaks more concerning the two traffic options that FDOT is currently providing.  

FDOT will pick the best option once all aspects have been reviewed. 

Mr. Gislason speaks to the Council about the size of the homes.  Single family will range from 

1500 to 3000 square feet.  Thirty percent of the project will be town homes around 1600 square 

feet. 

 

Motion to approve on second and final reading the Rookery Development Agreement 

concerning 559.9 acres located on CR 15A, south of Green Cove Avenue. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

8. First Reading of Ordinance O-11-2022, an Annexation Application for the Preserve 

Development for parcel number 016499-007-00, approximately 13.92 acres located on South US 

Highway 17 and CR 209.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads the ordinance by title. 

Development Services Michael Daniels presents and advises the Council the presentation and 

recommendations are for items 8-10. 

Mayor Johnson opens the public hearing. 

Ellen Avery-Smith with Rogers Towers presents and advises the Council the presentation is for 

items 8-10. 

Eric Conkright with Piedmont presents on the amenities the development will offer to the 

residents and the design of the exterior and interior of the buildings.  Mr. Conkright also shows 

the Council other developments they are producing. 

Felicia Hampshire 508 Franklin St. GCS, questions the cost of rent for development. 

Mr. Conkright advises the current approximate rental rate will be $1400 for a 1 bedroom, $1800 

to $1900 for a 2 bedroom, and $2200 to $2400 for a 3 bedroom. 

Jeff Ludwig 5150 Belfort Rd Building 500, is a lawyer representing Pegasus Technologies.  Mr. 

Ludwig explains what Pegasus does and speaks concerning the development being close to the 

runways that Pegasus uses. 

Jeff Heyse VP of Support Services for Pegasus speaks about his concerns with the development 

being close to the Pegasus runway and noise level of the aircrafts. 

Van Royal 3688 Lacosta Ct, GCS speaks concerning the development.  Mr. Royal advises he 

supports Pegasus but also supports the development. 

Mark Scruby with Rogers Towers advises he represents the owners of the property and speaks 

concerning the development. 

Virginia Hall 2321 Egremont Dr. Orange Park, is the owner of the property and speaks to the 

Council concerning the sale of the property and the development. 

Joe Sobotta 212 North St. GCS, speaks concerning the property and the development. 

Page 143

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 4 of 7 

 

 

Mr. Ludwig speaks and advises the issue here is how do you manage the growth and Pegasus has 

no objection to the sale of the property.  They are just concerned with the noise level that will be 

around for the tenants and the development so close to the runway. 

Ms. Hall advises this is private property and there is a contract on the property and dealing this 

will put the contract in jeopardy. 

Ms. Avery-Smith speaks towards all the concerns for the development and advises this is only a 

land use change. 

Following no further public comment, Mayor Johnson closes the public hearing. 

Council discussion follows concerning this item. 

 

Motion to approve on first reading for form and legality Ordinance No. O-11-2022, to 

approve the voluntary annexation of 13.92 acres located on US 17 and CR 209 (parcel 

#016499-007-00). 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

9. First Reading of Ordinance O-12-2022, a Future Land Use Map Amendment of parcel # 016499- 

007-00 from Industrial (County) to Mixed Use for 13.92 acres for property located at US 17 and 

CR 209. Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads the ordinance by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels advises the presentation from the item 8 was 

also for this item and staff recommends approval. 

Mayor Johnson opens the public hearing. 

Ellen Avery-Smith with Rogers Towers advises the Council the comments from item 8 were also 

for this item. 

Jeff Ludwig advises the Council the comments and exhibits from item 8 were also for this item. 

Mark Scruby advises the Council the comments from item 8 were also for this item. 

Following no further public comment, Mayor Johnson closes the public hearing. 

Council Member Gaw speaks to Raj Chindalur about traffic. 

Mr. Chindalur addresses Council Member Gaw’s concerns with the amount of traffic that will be 

using US 17 with this development and the Rookery. 

Motion to approve on first reading for form and legality Ordinance No. O-12-2022, to 

amend the Future Land Use of the property described therein from Industrial (County) to 

Mixed Use located on US 17 and CR 209 (parcel #016499-007-00). 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

10. First Reading of Ordinance O-13-2022, a Rezoning of parcel # 016499-007-00 from Light 

Industrial (County) to Planned Unit Development (PUD) for 13.92 acres for property located at 

US 17 and CR 209. Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads the ordinance by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels advises the presentation from the item 8 was 

also for this item and staff recommends approval. 

Mayor Johnson opens the public hearing. 

Page 144

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 5 of 7 

 

 

Ellen Avery-Smith with Rogers Towers advises the Council the comments from item 8 were also 

for this item. 

Jeff Ludwig advises the Council the comments from item 8 and exhibits were also for this item. 

Mark Scruby advises the Council the comments from item 8 were also for this item. 

Following no further public comment, Mayor Johnson closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve on first reading for form and legality Ordinance No. O-13-2022, to 

amend the Zoning of the property described therein from Light Industrial to Planned Unit 

Development subject to the following conditions: 

1. The applicant shall be required to comply with tree preservations requirements set forth 

in Sec. 113-279. Due to the proposed amount of onsite development and potential grade 

changes, an ISA certified arborist or equivalent horticulture professional shall be hired to 

evaluate trees, ensure adequate root area is provided and grade changes are not altered 

within critical root area, prescribe treatments to preserve the trees and oversee tree 

protection during the construction process and ensure compliance set forth in City Code 

Sec. 113-248. 

2. Traffic Study pursuant to the requirements set forth in the City’s Traffic Impact 

Analysis Guidelines shall be approved concurrent with the approval of the site 

development plan. 

3. Dumpster shall be screened with landscaping and concrete enclosure as required during 

the site plan submittal. 

4. A disclosure notification shall be provided within the lease agreements for the 

multifamily units located on the property informing the tenants that the proposed 

development is located in close proximity to the runway for the Reynolds Airpark. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 11 through 14. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

11. City Council acceptance of the Official Results of the April 12, 2022 Municipal Election.  Erin 

West 

12. City Council approval of two Agreements to Reimburse the Clay County Property Appraiser and 

Tax Collector for necessary administrative and actual costs incurred to implement non-ad 

Page 145

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 6 of 7 

 

 

valorem assessments programs for collection of stormwater, solid waste and nuisance abatement 

costs.  The two proposed Agreements are attached hereto.  L.J. Arnold, III 

13. City Council approval of Minutes from 3/15/2022, 4/5/2022, and 4/19/2022 Regular 

Sessions.  Erin West 

14. City Council approval of the Military Service Day Proclamation.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

15. City Council Passage of Ordinance O-16-2022 correcting a date for Credited Service in the 

Retirement Plan and Trust for Police Officers.  L.J. Arnold, III 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-16-2022 by title and explains the ordinance. 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. O-16-2022 on first reading as to form only. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

16. City Council approval of Nominees for Planning & Zoning Board Seats 3 and 4.  Michael 

Daniels 

City Clerk, Erin West advises in 2020 when Council Member Gaw was elected to Council a new 

member was appointed to the Planning & Zoning Board in his seat.  To get the terms back on the 

correct years, Council Member Kelley will also be recommending for seat 5 tonight. 

Council Member Smith recommends Josh Danley for seat 4. 

Council Member Kelley recommends Justin Hall for seat 5. 

Vice Mayor Butler recommends Henrietta Francis for seat 3. 

Motion to approve Henrietta Francis, Josh Danley, and Justin Hall for seats on the 

Planning & Zoning Board. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

17. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

18. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 10:49 

p.m. 

 

 

 

Page 146

Item #10.



May 17, 2022 Minutes Page 7 of 7 

 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 147

Item #10.



 
 

 

 
To:   Key Official 
 
From:   Eryn Russell, Florida League of Cities 
 
Date:  May 11, 2022 
 
Subject: 96th Annual Conference Voting Delegate Information 
 
 
The Florida League of Cities’ Annual Conference will be held at the Diplomat Beach Resort in Hollywood, 
Florida on August 11-13, 2022. This conference will provide valuable educational opportunities to help 
Florida’s municipal officials serve their citizenry more effectively. 
 
It is important that each member municipality sending delegates to the Annual Conference of the Florida 
League of Cities, designate one of their officials to cast their votes at the Annual Business Session. Election of 
League leadership and adoption of resolutions are undertaken during the business meeting. One official from 
each municipality will make decisions that determine the direction of the League.   
 
In accordance with the League’s by-laws, each municipality’s vote is determined by population, and the 
League will use the Estimates of Population from the University of Florida.  
 
Conference registration materials were sent to each municipality via the League's e-newsletter and are also 
available online at flcities.com. 
 
If you have any questions on voting delegates, please email erussell@flcities.com. Voting delegate forms must 
be received by the League no later than July 29, 2022.   
 
Attachments: Form Designating Voting Delegate  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148

Item #11.



  

 
 

 

2 of 2 

 
 
96th Annual Conference 
Florida League of Cities, Inc. 
August 11-13, 2022 
Hollywood, Florida 
 
It is important that each member municipality sending delegates to the Annual Conference of the Florida 
League of Cities, designate one of their officials to cast their votes at the Annual Business Session.  League By-
Laws requires that each municipality select one person to serve as the municipalities voting delegate.  
Municipalities do not need to adopt a resolution to designate a voting delegate. 
 
Please fill out this form and return it to the League office so that your voting delegate may be properly 
identified. Voting delegate forms must be received by the League no later than July 29, 2022.   
 
Designation of Voting Delegate 
 
Name of Voting Delegate: __________________________________________________ 
 
Title: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Delegate Email: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Municipality of: __________________________________________________________ 
 
      
AUTHORIZED BY: 
 
 
                         ______________________________________________ 
             Name 
 
  _______________________________________________ 
  Title 
 
 
Return this form to: 
Eryn Russell 
Florida League of Cities, Inc. 
Post Office Box 1757 
Tallahassee, FL  32302-1757 
Fax: (850) 222-3806 
Email: erussell@flcities.com 
 

Page 149

Item #11.

mailto:erussell@flcities.com


 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Erin West 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Resolution No. R-05-2022 and R-06-2022 and submission for 

consideration by the Resolutions Committee at the FLC Annual Conference in August.  

Erin West / Kim Thomas 
 

BACKGROUND 

Resolution No. R-05-2022 – Home Rule 

Resolution No. R-06-2022 – St. Johns River Marine Highway 

Resolutions must be submitted to the FLC for consideration no later than July 5, 2022. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval of Resolution No. R-05-2022 and R-06-2022 and submission for consideration by the 

Resolutions Committee at the FLC Annual Conference in August. 
 

Page 150

Item #12.



RESOLUTION NO. R-06-2022 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

URGING THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE TO SUPPORT THE 

DESIGNATION OF THE ST. JOHNS RIVER AS A MARINE HIGHWAY AND 

THE CREATION OF AN INLAND NAVIGATION DISTRICT; AND 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs, Florida finds that 

America’s Marine Highway System consists of over 29,000 nautical miles of 

navigable waterways including rivers, bays, channels, the Great Lakes, the Saint 

Lawrence Seaway System, coastal, and open-ocean routes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Marine Highway Program works to further incorporate these 

waterways into the greater U.S. transportation system, especially where marine 

transportation services are the most efficient, effective, and sustainable transportation 

option; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds further that the America’s Marine Highway 

Program is a Department of Transportation-led program to expand the use of our 

Nation’s navigable waterways to relieve landside congestion, reduce air emissions, 

and generate other public benefits by increasing the efficiency of the surface 

transportation system; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds further that the America’s Marine Highway 

Program was established by Section 1121 of the Energy Independence and Security 

Act of 2007 to reduce landside congestion through the designation of Marine Highway 

Routes; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 405 of the Coast Guard and Maritime Transportation Act of 

2012 further expanded the scope of the program beyond reducing landside congestion 

to efforts that generate public benefits by increasing the utilization or efficiency of 

domestic freight or passenger transportation on Marine Highway Routes between U.S. 

ports; and 

 

WHEREAS, the St. Johns River, named as one of 14 American Heritage Rivers in 

1998, is the longest river in the State of Florida and is most significant for commercial 

and recreational use; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA THAT: 

 

SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs, Florida hereby 

recommends the Florida Legislature’s consideration of legislation supporting 

designation of the St. Johns River as a Marine Highway and creation of an Inland 

Navigation District. 

Page 151

Item #12.



Resolution No. R-06-2022 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

SECTION 2.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

passage. 

 

DONE AND RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 21ST 

DAY OF JUNE, 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 152

Item #12.



RESOLUTION NO. R-05-2022 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, 

SUPPORTING HOME RULE POWERS AND OPPOSING LEGISLATIVE EFFORTS 

TO IMPEDE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS FLORIDA’S CITIZENS HAVE 

ENJOYED FOR NEARLY 50 YEARS TO GOVERN THEMSELVES UNDER 

MUNICIPAL HOME RULE POWERS; OPPOSING THE LEGISLATURE’S 

PERSISTENT INTRUSION INTO LOCAL FINANCES, WHICH ARE NECESSARY 

TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL STABILITY AND ESSENTIAL SERVICES UNIQUELY 

REQUIRED BY MUNICIAL RESIDENTS AND LOCAL BUSINESSES; AND 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY, AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, it is the expressed will of the voters of Florida to have the right to govern 

themselves under municipal Home Rule powers; and 

 

WHEREAS, Floridians have possessed this constitutional right of local self-government for 

nearly 50 years; and 

 

WHEREAS, as the only form of voluntary government, Florida’s municipalities are the 

embodiment of the Florida Constitution’s right of local self-government; and 

 

WHEREAS, municipal Home Rule powers include all government, corporate, and 

proprietary powers necessary to conduct municipal government, preform municipal functions, 

and render municipal services for the unique benefit of the people who live and work within a 

municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, Floridians exercise their Home Rule powers by voting to incorporate and be 

governed under a municipal form of government for a variety of reasons, including, but not 

limited to, increased services, a unique business and residential environment, and greater voice 

in how their government is run; and 

 

WHEREAS, municipal citizens further exercise their Home Rule powers by voting on a 

charter that specifies the desired form, functions, and powers of their municipal government; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Floridians’ constitutional right to govern themselves locally, under municipal 

Home Rule powers and pursuant to their adopted municipal charters, is being increasingly 

eroded and limited by actions of the Florida Legislature; and 

 

WHEREAS, these actions of the Florida Legislature take power away from Florida citizens 

to ensure their chosen municipal government provides their desired level of services, offers 

their desired quality of life, and otherwise meets their needs in a timely and effective manner; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, municipalities are authorized by the Florida constitution and the general law to 

levy ad valorem and other forms of local taxation, and are further authorized by general law 

and their Home Rule powers to impose special assessments and fees; and 

 

Page 153

Item #12.



Resolution No. R-05-2022 

Page 2 of 2 

 

WHEREAS, municipal residents and local businesses pay local taxes, assessments, and fees 

for the specific purposes of obtaining and enhancing their desired level of municipal services 

and amenities; and 

 

WHEREAS, intrusion from the Florida Legislature into municipal finances prohibits elected 

municipal leaders from meeting the expectations of their residents and local businesses that 

local revenues will be used as intended; and 

 

WHEREAS, the most precious powers a city in Florida has are its Home Rule powers; and, 

the ability to establish its form of government through the charter, and to then enact 

ordinances, codes, plans, and resolutions based on the needs and standards of the community 

without state interference is essential; and, to further be able to enforce there powers “at home” 

and to make necessary changes as a city grows is a great reflection of the trust that citizens 

have in their respective leaders. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1.  The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs urges all members of the 

Florida Legislature to oppose legislation that limits Floridians’ constitutional right to govern 

themselves under municipal Home Rule powers. 

 

SECTION 2.  The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs urges all members of the 

Florida Legislature to oppose legislation that would interfere with or intrude into municipal 

finances. 

 

SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon passage. 

 

DONE AND RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 21ST DAY OF JUNE, 

2022. 

 

     CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

              

     Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

        

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 

        

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 154

Item #12.



  

     City of Green Cove Springs 
(904) 297-7500     321 Walnut Street              Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
Florida Relay – Dial 7-1-1          www.greencovesprings.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 

To:  Steve Kennedy, City Manager 
 

From:  Development Services Department 

 
Date:  June 1, 2022 

 
Subject: Monthly Planning, Code Enforcement and Building Report for May, 2022 

 
 

PLANNING 

In May, two new business tax receipts and no renewals were issued. They include: 

• THE TWISTED LOTUS STUDIO LLC at 426 Walnut Street 

• ONE SWANKY CHIC BOUTIQUE at 424 Walnut Street 
 

Total Business Tax Revenue for the month was $100.00   
  
During the month of May, Staff:  

• Began or continued reviewing the following site development plans: Dollar Tree Plaza (to add 

two commercial outparcels, modify parking, and modify landscaping), the Prelude (a mixed-use 
development with approximately 38 residential units, a restaurant, and eight retail/office spaces), 

and a minor amendment to the approved site plan for GCSPD (1001 Idlewild Ave) to add a metal 
storage building. 

• Staff submitted the Finding of Necessity for the Downtown / US 17 Corridor / MLK Corridor to 

Clay County for their authorization to create a Community Redevelopment Area / Agency.  

• Completed 27 lien search requests, reviewed 20 permit applications, and continued to work 

on Future Land Use Map Amendments, a Rezoning, and a PUD Rezoning all related to 21.3 acres 
for the Rookery development and the proposed land swap. The Rookery applicants additionally 

resubmitted their Developers Agreement for continued review. Staff additionally received a new 
project known as Preserve at Green Cove Springs which includes a Voluntary Annexation, 

Future Land Use Amendment (from County Industrial to Mixed-Use) and a rezoning (From County’s 
Light Industrial to Planned Unit Development). This is for a multi-family development. 

• Revenues for Planning related fees for April were $4,017.43.  

CODE ENFORCEMENT  
In May, there were 8 new Enforcement complaints filed. Voluntary compliance was achieved for one of the 

cases resulting in case closure. The City received $0 in Code Enforcement fines for Special Magistrate orders 

previously issued. For Fiscal Year 2021-2022, Code Enforcement has collected $45,575 in Code Enforcement 
fines. 

 
 

BUILDING 

Page 155

Item #13.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


  

Building permit activity decreased from April to May. The total number of building permits issued in May 
was 67 compared to 93 in April. Permit activity for May 2022 stayed the same from May 2021.   

 
Revenues for Building related fees for May were $9,755.40. 

 

 

2022 PERMIT SUMMARY 

NEW HOUSES May 

MAGNOLIA POINT: 0 

CORE CITY: 2 

CONDOS: 0 

                                                                              

COMMERCIAL ACTIVITY         May 

BUILDING (NEW) 0 

                                                                           

OTHER PERMIT ACTIVITY May 

ADDITION - COMMERCIAL 1 

ADDITION - RESIDENTIAL 4 

REMODEL - COMMERCIAL 1 

REMODEL - RESIDENTIAL 3 

SCREEN ROOMS: 0 

SHIP PROGRAM: 0 

SIGNS: 1 

POOLS: 2 

RE-ROOFING: 15 

GARAGE/SHED: 0 

OTHER PERMITS: 38 

TOTAL PERMITS ISSUED 67 

Page 156

Item #13.



  

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

MONTHLY PERMIT ACTIVITY

2020 2021 2022

Page 157

Item #13.



Page 158

Item #13.



Page 159

Item #13.



Page 160

Item #13.



Page 161

Item #13.



 

        ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT             
 

 

Significant activities for the month of May 2022 
 

 

 12     Streetlights repaired 

   1     Temporary meter installed 

   2     Meters replaced 

   2     Meters inspected 

   5     Permanent meters installed 

   1     Pole installed 

   4     Poles removed 
   6     Voltage check 

   5     Utility Verifications 
 

 

In addition to the activities listed above, the Electric Department also: 

 

 Conducted daily morning safety meetings. 

 Conducted daily truck inspections. 

 Trimmed limbs and vines from power lines and poles. 

 Unloaded transformers and supplies when they come in. 

 Inspect/locate ROW permits. 

 Conduct warehouse inventory/order supplies. 

 303 Florida Ct., repaired lines damaged by Davey Tree. 

 232 Walnut St., secured riser guard to pole. 

 3122 Bazley Rd., moved up wire that was too low. 

 1005 Bunker Ave., removed three pot bank on pole, removed cut-outs on dead end feeder pole and 

installed tri-mount bracket with new 18KV. 

 3254 US 17 N., changed out 25 KVA transformer to conventional transformer. 

 3393 Hwy 17, changed out 50 KVA transformer to dual voltage. 

 3339 Hwy 17, changed out 25kva to dual voltage transformer. 

 Magnolia Point, removed breaker from service entrance of Magnolia Point. 

 Vera Hall Park, installed CT and CT’s meter can. 

 3185 Hwy 17, removed old transformer and switch. 

 Magnolia Point, removed reclosure and installed cut-out on C phase. 

 3297 Hwy 17, changed out single-phase transformer and add 45ft primary pole.   

 489 Olive Circle, cut down triplex and removed meter. 

Page 162

Item #13.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


During the month of May, the Electric Department responded 

to the following outages: 

 

05/6/2022 – Between 10:42 p.m. – 11:30 p.m., Governors Creek Dr., weather (lightning) blown fuse, 20 

customers affected. 

05/7/2022 – Between 8:45 a.m. – 9:45 a.m., 1462 Mahama Bluff, blown transformer fuse (squirrel), 1 

customer affected. 

05/21/2022 – Between 10:00 p.m. – 11:30 p.m., 5 Esplanade Ave., blown transformer fuse (squirrel), 1 

customer affected. 

05/21/2022 – Between 5:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m., 4122 Hwy 17 S., burnt up reclosure by lightning, 50 customers 

affected. 

05/22/2022 – Between 7:00 p.m. – 7:30 p.m., 1065 Bulkhead Rd., blown Lateral fuse by lightning, 1 customer 

affected. 

05/31/2022 – Between 8:40 a.m. – 9:40 a.m., 903 & 411 St Johns Ave., refused blown Lateral fuse, 20 

customers affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163

Item #13.



Electric Utility Top Consumption Customers (kwh/meter) for 

May: 

NAME                             SERVICE ADDRESS           KWH                 AMOUNT 

BD Of County Commissioner            825 N. Orange Ave.              252,200  $32,418.80 

Clay County Jail                                   901 N. Orange Ave.              248,480              $31,309.52 

St. Johns Landing            1408 N. Orange Ave.              205,740              $28,030.64 

Kindred Health                                801 Oak St.               194,800              $24,309.20 

Winn Dixie Stores, Inc                        3260 Hwy. 17 N.   155,200              $20,128.80 

Permabase Building Products           1767 Wildwood Rd                      152,000                         $18,930.00 

BD Of Public Instruction                     2025 State Road 16             101,200              $14,752.80 

Clay County Court House                   825 N. Orange Ave.               101,120                        $12,772.08 

Tamko Roofing Products            914 Hall Park Rd.     96,640              $14,622.96 

Governors Creek #436                        803 Oak St.                                      72,400                        $   9,539.60 

City of Green Cove Springs            1277 Harbor Road                            72,000                        $   8,754.80 

City of Green Cove Springs            Set Street Lights                              66,392                        $   9,240.49 

Clay County Driver’s License            477 Houston St.                               60,320               $  8,120.88 

Coral Ridge Foods                                1165 N Orange Ave.      53,440    $  6,922.16 

Garber Realty/GMC                             3340 Highway 17                            51,200                         $  6,977.20 

VAC-CON              954 Hall Park Rd.                             50,080                         $  6,855.12 

Pegasus Technologies             932 Pilot Dr.        48,240                        $  6,460.76 

BD Of Public Instruction                     1 N Oakridge Ave                              48,000                        $  7,424.00 

BD Of Public Instruction                     801 Center St.                                   47,840                        $  6,597.36 

Direct TV/ATT Services Inc.                512 Center St.                                   44,320                        $  5,751.28 

BD Of Public Instruction                     Clay High School                               42,720                        $  6,603.68 

BD Of Public Instruction                     608 Mill St.                                         39,200                        $  5,669.20 

Duval Asphalt Products, Inc.              1921 Jersey Ave.                               38,400                        $  8,264.60 

Race Trac Petroleum Inc.                   3106 Highway 17                               37,680                        $  4,830.32 
Page 164

Item #13.



Electric Utility Department Capital Projects: 

Pole top switch replacement 

This project began 09-18-2019 with the installation of switches at Governors Creek for restoration plan if 

isolation of north feeder across Governors Creek Bridge during extreme emergencies. Project is now in the 

inspection and evaluation process involving Chapman 2 extension to Harbor Rd and load transfer of Chapman 1 

to Chapman 2.  

Magnolia Point Reconductor 

This project has been reviewed by our new Electric Director and a local contractor and revised.  The project will 

now focus on a brand new 3-phase backbone “ring” through the development with two feeds.  This ring will be 

constructed as phase 1 utilizing a standing contract to bore in new 6” conduit for the entire ring and utilizing a 

contractor to pull in the new conductor and tie into the existing side roads along the way.  The re-design is now 

completed by our engineer.  Conduit and Conductor has been received for phase I and work has begun.  Work 

started on October 11, 2021, with completion expected by end of Summer 2022.   

 

Chapman Substation upgrade 

Patterson & Dewar is the City’s engineering firm for this project. The transformer is now energized with load 

on it, and we are now in the final stages of installing the new SCADA system on the older transformers. 

Patterson & Dewar have designed the rest of the improvements to the substation as well as SCADA to be 

installed throughout the system. Design is complete. The construction was awarded to Terry’s Electric. They 

arrived on site the first week of January 2021 to begin work at the substation. The substation work is complete, 

and we are working with Patterson & Dewar to finish up the last testing of the SCADA system before going 

live. The project should be complete by the middle of 2022. 

Page 165

Item #13.



 

 

Chapman 3RD Circuit 

IRBY Construction began September 21, 2020, and the PROJECT IS NOW COMPLETE. 

       

Chapman 1 / Chapman 2 

Express circuit feed project of Chapman 1 to north of Governors Creek (a.k.a. Magnolia Point Third Feed) 

and Chapman 2 extension to Harbor Rd project have been combined to balance future load requirements north 

of Governors Creek and to supply additional restoration procedure options involving electric outages north of 

Governors Creek. Conductor had been installed on Roberts St. for Chapman 1 alternate path. City crews are 

now working on additional new line on south right of way that will enable Reynolds Park load to be transferred 

from Chapman 1 circuit to Chapman 2.  Materials for this portion of the project are being funded by a DEO 

Grant.  PROJECT IS NOW COMPLETE. 

Houston St. re-conductor 

Planning for the reconductoring of Chapman 2 with 477 AAC from Martin Luther King Blvd. to Palmetto Ave. 

has begun. This will support a second circuit extending north of Governors Creek for restoration involving 

Magnolia Point, provide an alternate tie between Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 (was not possible before due to 

conductor size) and support AMMCON, PASS and other future expansion north of Governors Creek.  Materials 

for this project are being funded by a DEO Grant.  PROJECT IS NOW COMPLETE. 

13kV to 23kv Conversion – US17 from Harbor Road to CR 315 

Planning for this project has begun.  This project will continue the Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of 

Harbor Road to provide capacity and reliability for existing and future customers north of Governors Creek.  

Materials for this project are being funded by a DEO Grant. Materials have started arriving and we are installing 

the material as it arrives. 
Page 166

Item #13.



Governors Creek Hardening Project 

This project will allow the overhead conductor crossing Governors Creek to be placed underground from Grove 

Street to Harbor Road. This project has been split into two phases: (1) design and permitting and (2) 

construction.  It is being 75% funded by a FEMA HMGP grant. Phase 1 is complete. The project is now being 

evaluated by FDEM and FEMA funding for the construction phase. Once funding is in place and a contract is 

executed, bidding and construction should take approximately 9 months. This project will also support to 

extension of Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of Governors Creek to provide additional capacity and 

reliability for all customers north of Governors Creek. 

 

North and South Substation Improvements 

North and South substation sub-station upgrades have begun with directional bore designs completed to install 

URD 23KV feeds to substation transformers eliminating the possibility of catastrophic failure in the event of 

lightning or material failure which could cause conductor to fall into existing bus work.  

 

 

Page 167

Item #13.



Page 1 of 5 

 

Public Works 
Monthly Executive Summary 

May 2022 
 
Street Department 
 
During the month of May, The Street Department has been busy throughout the City.  Additional 

activities included:  

• Trim back limbs and vegetation on the city rights-of-way. 

• Setup for Food Truck Friday May 13th. 

• Preparation for the Annual Memorial Day Festival. 

• Palmetto Ave Welcome Wall improvements.  

• City Wide Street Sign Maintenance. 
 
The Street Department completed 26 additional work orders that pertained to street and stormwater 
issues. 
 

Parks Department 
 
During the month of May, the Parks Department mowed, trimmed, and edged all areas one time 

including the DOT rights-of-way, City Parks, and FCT property.   Additional activities included:  

• Monthly playground equipment inspection and necessary repairs. 

• Preparation for the Annual Memorial Day Festival.  

• Clean the City Pool 4 times.  

• Clean storm drains City Wide. 

• Prepped Spring Park for Food Truck Friday May 13th. 
  
 
The Parks Department completed 2 additional work orders outside of their normal daily work schedules. 
 

Equipment Maintenance 
 
The Equipment Maintenance Shop, as always, works hard to keep the equipment and vehicles going so 
the city can continue to provide our citizens with the exceptional service they are accustomed to.  
During the month of May, Danny, John and Donald completed 78 work orders.   

 
Tradesworker 
 
During the month of May, 23 work orders were completed.  

 
 

Page 168

Item #13.



Page 2 of 5 

Solid Waste Department 
 
       Cove Life, Litter Cleanup Program & New Services: 

• Picked up everything around the rollout cans. 

• Picked up as much loose trash, palm fronds, and sticks as possible on the streets, along the 
R.O.W. and ditches regardless of if it is near a container or not. 

• Delivered 9 trash cans and 9 recycle bins to new customers. 

• Delivered 4 blue recycle bins to current customers. 

• Repaired 3 trash cans.  

• Replaced 10 trash cans.               
 
This month, the city collected:   

• 370.70 tons of Class I garbage (21% increase) 

• 14.39  tons of recycling (1.3% increase)) 

• 130.69  tons of yard waste (7% decrease) 

• 19.14  tons of white goods and other junk 
 
For comparison during May 2021, the city collected: 

• 306.16  tons of Class I garbage  

• 14.20  tons of recycling  

• 139.95 tons of yard waste 
 

 
 

Water/Wastewater 
 

• W/WW crews/management had personal interaction with several citizens regarding 
water/sewer issues. 

• Contacted all customers on water and irrigation “Highest Users” report that had unusual 
consumption (not usually on report) 

• Staff continues to refine the scope and financials of the consolidated AWWTP, expanded 
reclaimed water system, wastewater collection system improvements and water system capital 
improvements to obtain maximum grant potential, optimize loan conditions and minimize 
impact to customers. 

• W/WW/RW Projects; 
o Design of the improvements to the city’s wastewater treatment system (all phases) is 

complete.  In order to maximize grant opportunities, the initial construction phase was 
split into two pieces, for a total of four phases; 

▪ Phase I is construction of the on-site reclaimed water system (storage tanks, 
high service pumps, electrical) at the existing Harbor Road Facility, and 
rehabilitation of Master Lift Stations #2 and #4.  This phase went out to bid in 
January in two parts – plant reclaimed water improvements & lift station #2 & 
#4.  Construction was completed in June 2020.  The total Phase I cost is 
$6,120,600. Staff received $4,063,425.00 in “Principal Forgiveness” (grant) from 
FDEP (SRF).   

▪ Phase II: 

• Construction of the new 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) advanced 
wastewater treatment plant (AWWTP) at the Harbor Road site.   
Construction approximately 40% complete 

 

Page 169

Item #13.



Page 3 of 5 

 
▪ Phase III: 

• A new force main from Lift Station #2 diverting the sewage from the 
South Plant to Harbor Road (all sewage generated in the City will be 
treated at the new Harbor Road AWWTP). 

• Decommissioning and “mothballing” of the South Wastewater 
Treatment Plant.  The permit will remain in place and the plant could be 
re-commissioned at a later date depending on future activities at the 
Reynolds site. 

▪ Phase IV (future – determined by growth) is a second identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road site.  An alternative would be construction of 
this train at the South Plant site in Reynolds Park if the southern /Reynolds 
portion of our service territory is where significant growth occurs 

▪ Phase V (future – determined by growth) is a third identical 1.25 MGD AWWTP 
built at the Harbor Road or Reynolds site.   

o Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Survey (SSES) of the Core City wastewater collection system is 
complete, including Mittauer final report.  Staff utilizes this data daily in evaluating 
collection system repairs and requests for sewer connections. 

o Continuing to work with FDOT and Clay County on utility relocations associated with the 
First Coast Expressway and Clay County road expansions (CR 315 & CR 209 / Russel 
Road).  

• Senate Bill 64:  In 2021 the Florida Senate approved SB 64, which requires wastewater 
treatment plants to eliminate surface water discharges by 2035, which has become a significant 
financial burden to utilities.  This requires the city to eliminate effluent discharge from the 
Harbor Road and South wastewater treatment plants to the St. Johns River.   While the city has 
been implementing reclaimed water projects for several years, there are not enough uses to 
take all of the city’s treated wastewater.  In November 2021 the city submitted to FDEP a plan as 
to how surface water discharges will be eliminated.   

 
Potable Water: 

• Staff and Mittauer have completed a full review of the future capital needs of the water system.  
A comprehensive capital improvement program (CIP) has been developed as part of the Water 
Master Plan.  As in the past, the timing of many of these improvements is driven by future 
activities in Reynolds Industrial Park and other areas of our service territory.  The city has 
received an FDEP – SRF loan for Planning and Engineering of several of the CIP improvements so 
that as the need for the improvements occur, the City is ahead of the game and can apply very 
quickly to SRF for actual construction dollars as “shovel-ready” projects.  The total design project 
cost is $356,800.00, with a $178,400.00 (50%) principal forgiveness (grant), leaving an actual 
loan of $180,100.00. 

• Reynolds Water System Improvements:   

• New water mains along two primary streets to remedy fire hydrants that were 
inadequate. 

• New 12” water main crossing under SR 16 to replace aging mains that endanger the 
integrity of the road.  This eliminated four existing crossings. 

• New water main along Red Bay Road eliminating existing aging and leaking pipes.  In 
addition remediating fire hydrants that were inadequate. 

• New water main and sewer force main extension from Reynolds Park to and across the 
MOBRO complex.  This extension is designed to supply water, fire protection & sewer 
needs to MOBRO and future developments to the east.  

• Completed September 2021   
 
 

Page 170

Item #13.



Page 4 of 5 

South Service Territory Improvements: 
o New 12” water main loop from US17 along CR 209 S to the existing 12” water main that 

terminated at 4600 CR 209 S.  This also included a new 4” sewer force main from US 17 
along CR 209 S to the First Coast Expressway crossing.  Completed September 2021 

• The City has received grants from the State of Florida Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) 
to install auxiliary generators at 17 sewage lift stations, and install generators / raise 
infrastructure at four additional stations.  The grant funds 75% of the improvements.  
Approximately 85% complete 

• Continued remediation of malfunctioning or out-of-service hydrants. 

• Operated and maintained the Harbor Rd. and South Wastewater Treatment Plants as well as the 
Harbor Rd. and Reynolds Water Treatment Plants to meet the requirements of Regulatory 
Agencies. 

• Continued to make process control adjustments at the Harbor Rd. and South WWTP in efforts to 
further lower Total Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus levels being discharged to the St. Johns River.  

• Continued landscape maintenance at Water and Wastewater Treatment Facilities as well as lift 
stations. 

• Continued preventative maintenance on all treatment facility generators. 

• Completed 4 new services. 

• Completed 81 water related work orders. 

• Completed 31 sewer related work orders. 

• Responded to 175 utilities locate requests. 

 
 

TOP 10 WATER CUSTOMERS MAY 2022 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1  Superior Construction CO SE                                           1            Superior Construction CO SE  
2 Sheriff’s Department 2           Sheriff’s Department 
3            Governors Creek #436  3           Pestology LLC 
4 Clay High 4            General Underground, LLC 
5            Tony Seago             5            Clay High 
6 Clay County Court House 6            Governor Creek #436  
7            Premier Surface Design LLC 7            Clay County Court House 
8            A-1 Stone World INC                                                         8            Tony Seago 
9            Clay Port INC 9             Premier Surface Design LLC 
10 Springs Coin Laundry 10           Clay Port INC  
                                                           

 

Page 171

Item #13.



Page 5 of 5 

TOP 10 IRRIGATION CUSTOMERS MAY 2022 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1        Mobro Marine, INC       1    Mobro Marine, INC   
2        Magnolia Point Investment       2    Magnolia Point Investments      
3        Permabase Building Products      3    Permabase Building Products  
4        Magnolia Point Association  4    Magnolia Point Association    
5        Sheriff’s Department  5    Sheriff’s Department  
6        Green Cove Spring Junior High       6    Troy Lampe  
7        Troy Lampe     7    Green Cove Spring Junior High  
8        Conway & Celia Tomlinson   8    Vallencourt Construction  
9        Vallencourt Construction 9    Conway & Celia Tomlinson                                                                
10      Chris & Patrice Johnson                                                      10    James & Cassandra Butler  

 
 

TOP 10 SEWER CUSTOMERS MAY 2022 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1 St. John’s Landing 1 St John’s Landing 
2 Sheriff’s Department 2 Sheriff’s Department 
3 Governors Creek#436 3 Clay High 
4 Clay High 4            Governors Creek #436 
5 Tony Seago 5            Clay County Court House                                                               
6 Clay County Court House 6            Premier Surface Design LLC                                                                          
7   Premier Surface Design LLC                                             7            Clay Port INC 
8    A-1 Stone world INC  8            Diamond Assisted Living  
9            Clay Port INC            9            Garber Realty /car wash 
10          Springs Coin Laundry 10          Garden Highway SE LLC 

 
 

Wastewater Plant Capacity Status 
 

South Plant:  TMDL Capacity 0.350 MGD*,  

• Current Loading 0.268 MGD*, 79% Capacity (April 2022 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.331) Loading 0.606 MGD*, 175% Capacity 

• Current, Committed (.331) & Requested (0.50) Loading 0.656 MGD*, 189% Capacity 
 
Harbor Road:  TMDL Capacity 0.650 MGD* 

• Current Loading 0.478 MGD*, 74% Capacity (April 2022 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.092) Loading 0.570 MGD*, 88% Capacity 

• Current, Committed & Requested (0) Loading 0.570 MGD*, 88% Capacity 
*MGD = Million Gallons per Day       
                          Note:  No Reynolds growth or loading projections included in above. 
 

Page 172

Item #13.


	Top
	Item #3.	Copy of Roberts PUD North Rezoning from R-2 to PUD
	Letter to Defer6.13.22
	Staff Report_SDRT_Roberts St PUD North 
	App_Zoning Existing
	Zoning_Proposed
	PUD_Written Description
	APP - North PUD
	Ordinance O-14-2022 - RZ - Roberts North

	Item #4.	Copy of Roberts PUD South Rezoning from R-2 to PUD
	Letter to Defer6.13.22
	Staff Report_SDRT_Roberts St PUD North 
	App_Zoning Existing
	Zoning_Proposed
	PUD_Written Description
	APP - North PUD
	Ordinance O-15-2022 - RZ - Roberts South

	Item #5.	CA: 2022 PCSO MOU
	06.21.2022 - Staff Report - PD MOU's
	Mutual Aid Agreement with Putnam County 2022

	Item #6.	HMGP 4337-294-R Contract Mod #2
	4337-294-R Extension Staff Report
	4337-294-R Mod #2-City of Green Cove Springs-For Subrecipient Signature (05-25-22)

	Item #7.	CA:  FACC 50th Anniversary
	FACC 50th Anniversary

	Item #8.	Houston Street CIPP Project
	Houston Street CIPP Staff Report
	APT Houston Street Updated Bid
	JHWUI Houston CIPP Bid
	11-16-21 APT CIPP Staff Report
	APT AWARDED CONTRACT MILTON FL
	Green Cove Springs_ 2021-2022 Sanitary and Stormwater CIPP Lining Proposal

	Item #9.	IT Surplus Items
	6-21-22 IT Surplus Staff Report
	Attachment A, June 21, 2022 IT Surplus

	Item #10.	MINS 5/17 REG
	2022-05-17 - Regular Minutes

	Item #11.	FLC CONF 2022 DELEGATE
	2022 Voting Delegate Memo

	Item #12.	FLC CONF 2022 RES
	06.21.2022 - Staff Report - FLC Resolutions
	Resolution No. R-06-2022 - St. Johns River - Marine Highway For FLC Annual Conference
	Resolution No. R-05-2022 - Home Rule For FLC Annual Conference

	Item #13.	City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence
	2022 May MONTHLY REPORT Building-CE-PZ
	May 2022
	Electric Dept - May 2022_revise
	Public Works - May 2022

	Bottom

